
 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov .uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Thursday, 16 June 2022, 2.00 pm 

The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, 
Stockwell Street, Leek 

 
Contact Officer: Pat Trafford. 01538 395551 - 

pat.trafford@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

SITE VISITS: Members should meet at Moorlands House at 
9.30am ready for the site visits to take place. Stout 

footwear is recommended due to the potential 
condition of some of the sites. 

 
 

Speaking at Committee: Under the Council's Constitution, applicants (or their 

agent) and objectors/supporters are eligible to speak at this Committee for 3 minutes 
each.  The maximum number of speakers on any item is six (three speakers for and 
three speakers against) plus any Ward Councillors.  All speakers, including Ward 
Councillors, should register with Democratic Services (email 
democratic.services@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or tel: 01538 395551) 

from 10.00 a.m. on the Monday after the agenda is published until 4.00 p.m. on 
the Wednesday of the week of the meeting. Also please note that speakers need 

to re-register if an application has been previously withdrawn from an agenda. 
Registered speakers should attend the meeting no later than 15 minutes before the 
start of the meeting (guidance will be provided during registration).   
 

An information leaflet relating to these procedures is available from the main Council 
Offices, on the Council’s website and will be available at the meeting.  Speakers are 
advised to read the leaflet prior to the meeting. 
 

The order of business on the agenda may change at the discretion of the Chair.  As 
it is not possible to give a precise time when an item may be discussed, it is always 
advisable to arrive for the start of the meeting. 

 
Please be aware that meetings will be broadcast vie the Council’s website and may 

be recorded by representatives of the media or by members of the public. A 
guidance document for the recording of public Council meetings is available on the 
Council’s website. 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 

scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 16 June 2022 
 

 
A G E N D A  (Continued) 

 
 

 

 
1. Chair's announcements  

 
a) Webcasting; 
b) Introductions of Members and Officers; 
c) Other announcements. 

 
2. Apologies for absence, if any.  

 
3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 

 

 (a) To approve as a correct record the Public Minutes of the Planning 
Applications Committee held on 12 May 2022. 

 

 (b) Reports on matters arising, if any. 
 

4. Urgent items, if any.  

 
5. Declarations of Interest  

 
i. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests; 
ii. Other Interests; 

iii. Lobbying Interests. 
 

6. SMD/2022/0047 - Land adjacent to Cellarhead Substation, Rownall Road, 
Wetley Rocks (Pages 13 - 32) 

 

7. SMD/2021/0695 - Land adjacent to Cellarhead Substation, Rownall Road, 
Wetley Rocks (Pages 33 - 48) 

 
8. SMD/2021/0784 - Land east of Sugar Street, Rushton Spencer (Pages 49 - 70) 

 
9. SMD/2021/0337 - Tean Surgery, Old Road, Upper Tean (Pages 71 - 84) 

 
10. Application to fell a protected Tree - 9 Basford Bridge Lane, Cheddleton (Pages 

85 - 92) 

 

11. NOTE - A Late Representations Report will be circulated prior to the meeting i.e. 
any representations received since this agenda was published.  

 
 
 

Published 8 June 2022 
 

 

 
 

 



Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 16 June 2022 
 

 
A G E N D A  (Continued) 

 
 

Membership of Planning Applications Committee 

Councillor S Ellis (Chair) Councillor P Jackson (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor B Cawley Councillor S Coleman 

Councillor J Davies Councillor B Emery 
Councillor K Flunder Councillor A Hart 
Councillor T Holmes Councillor K Hoptroff 

Councillor A Hulme Councillor I Plant 
Councillor T Riley Councillor P Wilkinson 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Minutes 
 

THURSDAY, 7 APRIL 2022 
 

PRESENT: Councillor P Roberts (Chair)   

 
 Councillors B Cawley, S Coleman, S Ellis, B Emery, K Flunder, 

M Gledhill, K Hoptroff, P Jackson, I Plant, T Riley and P Wilkinson 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: S Hampton Member and Community Services Officer 

 P Trafford Member & Community Services Officer 
 J Curley Principal Planning Officer 

 B Haywood 
J Price-Jones 

Head of Development Services 
Legal Advisor 

 

APOLOGIES: Councillors J Davies and T Holmes 
 

308 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

The Chair announced the following: 

 
a) The meeting was being broadcast live to the internet via the usual webcasting 

facility and was capable of repeated viewing. The images and sound 
recording could be used for training purposes within the Council. The Chair 
had the discretion to terminate or suspend filming if it was his opinion that 

continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting. Any 
views expressed by any speaker in the meeting were the speaker’s own and 

did not necessarily reflect the views of Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council. 

b) The meeting was held in the Council Chamber, Moorlands House. Members 

were seated a minimum of 2 meters apart.  
c) Members of the Committee and Officers present were introduced by the 

Chair. 
d) Mobile phones to be switched off or set to silent. 
e) Following an extended period when physical site visits had not been made, 

members visited selected sites during the morning prior to the meeting. 
 

309 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications 

Committee held on 17 February 2022 be APPROVED as a correct record and 

signed by the Chair. 

 
(Proposed by Councillor Riley and Seconded by Councillor Gledhill.) 
 

310 URGENT ITEMS, IF ANY. 
 

There were no urgent items. 
 Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

2 
 

311 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

The following declarations were made at this point, unless stated otherwise:- 
 

Agenda Item 
Member Declaring 

Interest 
Nature of Interest 

Agenda Item 6 – 
SMD/2021/0694 –  

Land at Ash Bank Road, 
Werrington 

Cllrs. Cawley, Coleman, 
Ellis, Emery, Flunder, 

Gledhill, Hoptroff, 
Jackson, Plant, Riley, 
Roberts & Wilkinson 

“Other” – Fellow District Cllr 

speaking 

Agenda Item 7 – 

SMD/2021/0829 –  
Land at Blythe Park, 

Sandon Road, 
Cresswell 

Cllrs. Cawley, Coleman, 
Ellis, Emery, Flunder, 

Gledhill, Hoptroff, 

Jackson, Plant, Riley, 
Roberts & Wilkinson 

“Other” – Fellow District 
Cllrs speaking and 

Lobbied – No response 
given 

Cllr. Plant 
“Other” – Maintains the 

Bowling Green 

Cllr. Wilkinson 
“Other” – Ward Cllr & 

Draycott Parish Cllr. 

Cllr. Flunder 
“Other” – Had attended 

meetings regarding this site 

Agenda Item 9 – 
SMD/2021/0393 –  

Land off Quarry Bank, 

Hollington 

Cllrs. Cawley, Coleman, 
Ellis, Emery, Flunder, 

Gledhill, Hoptroff, 

Jackson, Plant, Riley, 
Roberts & Wilkinson 

“Other” – Fellow District Cllr 

speaking 

Cllr. Wilkinson 

“Other” – Ward Cllr & 

Checkley Parish Cllr, called 
the application to 

Committee. Also Lobbied – 

No response given 

Cllr. Flunder 

“Other” – Checkley Parish 
Cllr & Chair of the Checkley 

Neighbourhood Plan 
Committee (Declared whilst 

item was under 

consideration) 

Agenda Item 10 – 
SMD/2022/0017 – 

The Barn, Ringe Hay 
Farm, Basford 

Cllrs. Cawley, Coleman, 
Ellis, Emery, Flunder, 

Gledhill, Hoptroff, 
Jackson, Plant, Riley, 
Roberts & Wilkinson 

“Other” – Fellow District Cllr 

speaking 

Agenda Item 12 – 
SMD/2021/0100 –  

Land at Deadman’s 

Green, Checkley 

Cllr. Flunder 
“Other” – Near Neighbour to 

site 

 
 

 Page 6



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

3 
 

312 SMD/2021/0694 - LAND AT ASH BANK ROAD, WERRINGTON 
 

APPLICATION FOR REVELOPMENT OF 75 NEW DWELLINGS, NEW ACCESS, 
PROVISION OF GREEN SPACE INFRASTRUCTURE AND ALL ASSOCIATED 
WORKS FOR COUNTRYSIDE PROPERTIES UK AND HOMES ENGLAND. 

(Report recommended Approval) 
 

All Councillors had declared “other” interests.  
 
RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:- 

 
Against the application: 

 Cllr. Barbara Hughes. - Ward Cllr. 
 
For the application: 

 Mr. Andrew Carter  - Homes England  
 Mrs. Rachel Bolger  - Applicant 

 Mr. Adam Bills  - Countryside Properties Ltd  
 
NOTED - 1.  Late Representation Report (LRR) contained; 

 Conditions requested by the Lead Local Flood Authority; 

 Amended wording to conditions 23 and 25 recommended by 

Highways Authority; 

 Notwithstanding the submitted details additional conditions to 

require a) the  submission of a detailed Landscaping scheme, 
based on the submitted Landscaping Plan and b) a Boundary 
Treatment plan; 

 Recommendation valid subject to no new and substantive 
issues raised by 14 April 2022 as a result of further publicity 

regarding amended access to Plots 1 – 3. 
 

2.  Speaker corrected the Ward quoted – should be Cellarhead, not 

Werrington. 
 

 
RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 

the policies contained in the report, subject to the conditions and 

informatives in the report and the amendments shown above. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED - In the event of any changes being needed to the wording 

of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal), 

prior to the decision being issued the Head of Development Services 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of 

the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes did 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 

(Proposed by Councillor Emery and seconded by Councillor Cawley.) 
 

 
Mr. Simon Hawes – Highways Authority Officer – arrived at this point to advise on 
the next agenda item. 

 Page 7



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

4 
 

313 SMD/2021/0829 - LAND AT BLYTHE PARK, SANDON ROAD, CRESSWELL 
 

APPLICATION FOR VARIATION OF CONDITION 5 IN REGARDS TO OUTLINE 
APPLICATION SMD/2018/0789 FOR ELAN HOMES (MIDLANDS) AND 
SCENTAREA LTD. 

(Report recommended Approval) 
 

All Councillors had declared “other” interests and lobbying interests.  
 
RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:- 

 
Against the application: 

 Cllr. Glyn Johnson  - Objector 
 Mr. Luke Emery  - Objector 
 Mr. Brent Horleston  - Objector 

 Cllr. Alan Hulme  - Ward Cllr. 
 Cllr. Mark Deaville  - Ward Cllr. 

 
For the application: 

 Mr. David Onions  - Associate Planner  

 
NOTED - 1. LRR contained applicant’s response to comments from Draycott 

Parish Council and objectors. 
 
 2.  Officer outlined 1 further substantial letter of objection received after 

LRR published. 
 

 3.  Highways Officer confirmed that the traffic data used was the same 
as used on the original 2014 scheme in order to give a fair comparison. 
The data had been ‘growthed-up’ in both cases. 

 
 
RESOLVED – That, contrary to officer recommendation the application be 

REFUSED for the reasons shown below. 

 
Reasons / Policies: 
 

 Residential amenity; 

 Road safety; 

 Pollution; 

 Noise. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED – That the minor changes to the Section 106 agreement 

outlined in the report relating to the Retail Unit and Community Building 

triggers, Playing Field contribution, NEAP / MUGA and Bus Service 
provision be agreed. 

 

(Proposed by Councillor Wilkinson and seconded by Councillor Flunder.) 
 

 
 
 

 Page 8



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

5 
 

314 SMD/2021/0441 - COMPTON MILL, COMPTON, LEEK 
 

APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF 57 No. OVER-65 RETIREMENT LIVING 
APARTMENTS, TOGETHER WITH EXTERNAL AMENITY SPACE, PARKING 
AND ASSOCIATED FACILITIES FOR CONSTRUCTING GROWTH AND 

HOUSING 21. 

(Report recommended Approval) 

 
RECEIVED – Representation from the undermentioned speaker:- 
 
For the application: 

 Mrs. Hayley Knight  - Applicant’s Agent  

 
NOTED - 1.  LRR confirmed that recommendation was subject to no new and 

substantive issues being raised as a result of the further 14 day 

publicity carried out regarding the final revised plans and confirmation 
from the Lead Local Flood Authority that their objection was lifted. 

 
 2.  Applicant’s Agent requested flexibility to allow Over 55 residents. 
 

 3.  Members requested an informative for Solar Panels to be installed. 
 

 4.  Members requested that the existing tower be made water tight as 
soon as possible to prevent further degradation. 

 

 
RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 

the policies contained in the report, subject to the conditions and 
informatives in the report and further conditions to secure swift bricks 
and ensure that the retained stair turret is made water tight and an 

informative to encourage the applicant to consider solar panels subject 
to obtaining any necessary Planning consents. 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED - In the event of any changes being needed to the wording 

of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 

informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal), 
prior to the decision being issued the Head of Development Services 

had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes did 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
(Proposed by Councillor Gledhill and seconded by Councillor Emery.) 

 
315 SMD/2021/0393 - LAND OFF QUARRY BANK, HOLLINGTON 

 

 
OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH DETAILS OF ACCESS FOR THE ERECTION OF 

TWO DETACHED DWELLINGS FOR MR JOHN SIMS. 

(Report recommended Refusal) 
 

All Councillors had declared “other” interests. Cllr Wilkinson declared a lobbying 
interest.  

 
 Page 9



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

6 
 

RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:- 
 
For the application: 

 Mrs. Julie Sims  - Supporter 
 Cllr. Alan Hulme  - Ward Cllr. 

 Mr. Malcolm Sales  - Applicant’s Agent 
 Mrs. Melanie Swanwick - Supporter  

 
NOTED - 1.  Officer confirmed that the family’s historical connections with the 

village were not a material planning consideration, the Applicant’s 

personal circumstances could be given only very limited weight as the 
tenure was limited and the application was not for a farm worker’s 

dwelling and so any agricultural activities were also not a material 
planning consideration. 

 

 2.  The Checkley Neighbourhood Plan was not yet complete. Speaker 
confirmed that this site was not included in the draft plan as the 

Applicant was incapacitated at the time of consultation. The site would 
be treated as a ‘Windfall Site’. 

 

 
RESOLVED – That the application be REFUSED for the reasons and based on the 

policies contained in the report. At the vote there was parity – 6 votes 
in favour and 6 against. The Chairman used his casting vote to 
REFUSE. 

 
(Proposed by Councillor Jackson and seconded by Councillor Ellis.) 

 
Councillor Wilkinson had proposed APPROVAL and this was seconded by 
Councillor Flunder. However, as the substantive vote to REFUSE was passed, the 

vote to APPROVE was not taken. 

 

316 SMD/2022/0017 - THE BARN, RINGE HAY FARM, BASFORD 
 
APPLICATION FOR SINGLE-STOREY SIDE EXTENSION FOR MR D MARKS. 

(Report recommended Refusal) 
 

All Councillors had declared “other” interests.  
 
RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:- 

 
For the application: 

 Mr. Ken Wainman  - OBO Applicant 
 Cllr. Mike Worthington - Ward Cllr.  
 
NOTED - 1.  Application was a re-submission. Agent confirmed that research 

showed that the Barn had been substantially rebuilt some time ago and 

was therefore no longer a Heritage Asset so should be treated as a 
normal building. Officer stated that the Barn was rebuilt to resemble the 
original design. 

 
 

  
Page 10



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

7 
 

RESOLVED – That the application be REFUSED for the reasons and based on the 

policies contained in the report. 

 
(Proposed by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Ellis.) 
 

317 SMD/2021/0636 - WILDWOOD, FARLEY LANE, FARLEY 
 

APPLICATION FOR ECO HOUSE REPLACEMENT DWELLING FOR MR AND 
MRS C GREEN. 

(Report recommended Approval) 

 
RECEIVED – Representation from the undermentioned speaker:- 

 
For the application: 

 Mr. James Green  - Applicant  

 
NOTED - 1.  Member requested screening to be done on the near edge of the 

site. Applicant confirmed that this was scheduled to be carried out. 
 
 
RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 

the policies contained in the report, subject to the conditions in the 

report.  
 
FURTHER RESOLVED - In the event of any changes being needed to the wording 

of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal), 

prior to the decision being issued the Head of Development Services 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes did 

not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

(Proposed by Councillor Hoptroff and seconded by Councillor Emery.) 
 

318 SMD/2021/0100 - LAND AT DEADMAN'S GREEN, UTTOXETER ROAD, 

CHECKLEY 
 

OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH DETAILS OF ACCESS (ALL OTHER MATTERS 
RECERVED) FOR THE ERECTION OF A FARM WORKERS DWELLING FOR MR 
J RICHARDS AND MS D CIVIL.  

(Report recommended Approval) 
 

Councillor Flunder had declared an “other” interest and left the room, taking no part 
in the discussion or vote. Councillor Gledhill also left the meeting at this point.  
 

RECEIVED – Representation from the undermentioned speaker:- 
 
For the application: 

 Mr. Tim Malkin  - Applicant’s Agent  
 
NOTED - 1.  Informative to be added for the dwelling to be a Bungalow in order 

to reduce the impact on the countryside. 

 
 Page 11



Planning Applications Committee - 7 April 2022 
 

8 
 

RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 

the policies contained in the report, subject to the conditions and 

informatives in the report and the additional informative shown above. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED - In the event of any changes being needed to the wording 

of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal), 

prior to the decision being issued the Head of Development Services 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes did 

not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

(Proposed by Councillor Jackson and seconded by Councillor Ellis.) 
 

319 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 

transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public 

in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 
100 I (1)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by 
virtue of the Paragraphs indicated. 

 
320 TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE 

LAST MEETING 
 

Councillor Flunder returned to the meeting for this item. 

 
Members considered the exempt minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 5.53 pm 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

Page 12



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
16th June 2022 

 
Application 
No: 

SMD/2022/0047 

Location Land Adjacent Cellarhead Substation 
Rownall Road 
Wetley Rocks 
Staffordshire 

Proposal Erection and operation of a Battery Energy Storage System and 
associated infrastructure and equipment 

Applicant Sirius Renewable Energy Ltd 
Agent Sirius Renewable Planning  
Parish/ward  Date registered 3/2/2022 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Curley  tel: 01538 
395400 ex 4124 Jane.curley@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
REFERRAL 
 
This is a contentious major development in the Green Belt  

 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 
 
REFUSE 

 

 
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

 
2.1 The main site consists of two agricultural fields with a new access through a third field to 
the south. The site is said to be approximately 5.4 hectares.  It lies immediately adjacent to 
the eastern boundary of the  Cellarhead substation and to the west of Rownall Road. It is 
within the Green Belt.   
 
2.2Two existing accesses are proposed to serve the site. The existing track from Rownall 
Road to the east  (also line of Public footpath, Cheddleton 53) leading to the farmyard,  
buildings and fields is to be used once the site is operational by the DNO (District Network 
Operator) who will have access to the substation compound to the north eastern corner of 
the site. The existing substation access road to the south (also the route of Public Footpath 
60) will be used during the construction phases and for routine maintenance checks once 
the site is operational. A new length of access track approx. 180m in length and 5m in width 
is proposed between the south east corner of the site and this existing access running in a 
straight line.  Revised plans show this to be a gravelled surface.    
 
2.3The site is bound to the north by partial hedging, trees and fencing, beyond which is a 
farm track (also a continuation of Public Footpath Cheddleton 53). To the north east is a 
collection of agricultural buildings. To the west the site is bound by hedging. Beyond this is a 
narrow strip of woodland through which Public footpath Cheddleton 47 runs and the 
Cellarhead substation. To the south and east the site adjoins agricultural land with 
hedging/fencing and trees forming the boundaries.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 
2.4 The site gently falls gently in a westerly  direction towards the existing substation  
 
2.5 There are two high voltage overhead electricity pylons in the north western of the site.  
 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

 
3.1 This is a full application for an Battery storage facility. The proposed facility consists of  

 112 battery container units – 12.15m x 2.43m x 2.89m (extends to 14.69m with air 
colling units added at either end)  

  112 invertors and 56 transformer  
 Perimeter fencing 2.4m high and inward facing infra-red CCTV 

 Acoustic fencing on the north, east and south boundaries 4m in height 

 Substation compound and associated cabins including a switchgear/meter room 

 2 spare storage cabins 

 Underground cabling  

 Internal access road  
 
3.2 The switch room and battery containers are to be painted in a dark green colour to help 
assimilate the development into the landscape.  
 
3.3 Construction is expected to take 9 months to complete. It is said that the site will connect 
into the point of connection located within the adjacent Cellarhead substation compound via 
underground cabling.  
 
3.4 An area of off-site land, 3.84 ha,  to the south west of the application site in control of the 
applicant (edge blue on the application) is proposed for biodiversity gains. This will be 
planted with additional native hedgerows, trees and the grassland managed and improved to 
enhance its ecological value.  
 
3.5 The facility will provide 280 MVA  to store and export to the local distribution network for 
up to 2 hours .  
 
3.6 The application is accompanied by a Planning Statement, a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment, Tree survey and a  Phase I Habitat report, a Noise Assessment and 
Heritage Assessment. Members are advised to study these documents  and the application 
submission prior to the meeting      
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
SMD/2021/0413  Request for screening opinion proposed battery storage facility. Negative 
opinion issued 25th August 2021 

 
5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (adopted September 2020) 
 
 SS1    Development Principles 
 SS10  Rural area strategy  
 SD1    Sustainable Use of Resources 
 SD2   Renewable/low carbon energy 
 SD3    Carbon-saving Measures in Development 
 SD4     Pollution  

Page 14



 SD5     Flood risk  
 DC1     Design Considerations 
 DC2     Heritage 
 DC3     Landscape and visual impact  
 NE1     Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
 NE 2    Trees, Hedges and woodland  
 T1        Development and Sustainable Transport 
 T2        Other Sustainable Transport Measures 

 
National Planning Policy NPPF 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 

Press Notice expiry date:   Expired  
Site Notice expiry date:      Expired  
Local residents have been notified by letter.  
 
2 Letters of representation received  
 

 This is now the 3rd major sized Battery storage application proposed to annex the 
existing National Grid transformer station at Rownall! Each separate application has 
been made in total isolation and disregard for the other individual applications 
submitted. Consequently there results a total lack of any consideration whatever for 
the cumulative impact to the local community and environment should approvals be 
given to these proposals and any others which might well follow! 

 

 All of the risks, of explosion, fire, noise, security, and access etc could potentially 
now be multiplied by 3 if all present applications are approved! There is an absolute 
need now to identify the extent of cumulative impact for whatever might be approved! 

 
 

 LOCATION The map used is long out of date, my home Rownall Ridge occupies the 
site of the former Rownall Hall which was demolished in the 1960s. Again my home 
would be the nearest dwelling to this proposed site and not even mentioned in the 
application possibly because it is not a listed property but nonetheless highly 
significant in terms of damaging impact! 

 

 ACCESS – the Highways comments are highly relevant in regard to the dangerous 
narrow section of Rownall Road between Mill Lane and Rownall Hall Farm which is 
largely single track to larger vehicles and features numerous blind bends and blind 
entrances which over the years have been the cause of many accidents. It is noted 
that a separate access road is proposed leading from private national Grid access 
road, this should be the only vehicle access and no access from the outset should be 
given down the existing private farm track on the exit of the blind bend which runs 
opposite to the entrance drives of Rownall Ridge and Rownall Stables! 

 
 The application conveniently mentions that only the majority of construction traffic will 

access via the proposed newly constructed road, this must not be accepted and a 
condition should be imposed that 100% of all accessing traffic must use the new road 
from the outset! Already, I have observed that a number of the surveyors vehicles 
preparing this application have recently already narrowly avoided collisions with the 

Page 15



fast moving huge tractors now regularly using this dangerous section of Rownall 
Road. 

 

 The noise of more humming transformers, inverters, air conditioning coolers, and the 
very loud discharge bangs of static electricity will presumably proportionately 
increase with each additional new storage facility. What if anything has been done to 
calculate the overall noise impact? Additionally, I would suggest that construction 
traffic is limited to Monday to Friday between the hours of greater size of 10.00 and 
16.00 hrs. 

 

 Explosion is a serious risk. The outbreak of any explosion on one compound is of 
course likely to spread to adjacent/adjoining compounds and the size and area of 
destruction and devastation would be far greater!  Accompanying any explosion 
would of course be an enormous fireball which if plural applications are approved 
would again be proportionally greater carrying East in the prevailing  Westerlies right 
through the screening into my Copice and into my home. The scale of course of the 
devastation would in all likelihood be much further far reaching and probably take out 
the Rownall, Wetley Rocks and Werrington. 

 
 LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING - Some serious thought of effective screening 

needs to be considered from the outset! It wouldn’t be acceptable to simply plant 
trees and vegetation which would take 40 years to grow to effectively screen what is 
likely to be a very large visible concrete walled eyesore of enormous height!  

 

 SECURITY -The Police have already drawn attention to the fact that these sites 
represent a significant security risk as they contain many high value metals, batteries 
etc which carry a highly disposable scrap value for thieves specialising in this sector. 
For this reason and the associated vastly increased operational risk already outlined 
surely this site has to be manned 24/7 particularly if plural approval of a number of 
these applications are approved! 

 

 SOLAR PANEL FARM DEVELOPMENTS - It should be anticipated that approval of 
any of these battery storage facilities will likely prompt and encourage further plural 
applications of huge Solar Panel farms on the residual huge acreage of lands (then 
rendered unused farm land) in the same ownership of the land occupying the battery 
storage facilities! 

 

 Foresight of what could result should be taken into consideration now and a long 
terms strategy developed acceptable to all likely to be affected! 

 
Letter of support from Cllr Ian Dakin 
Global warming will affect all of us and will affect green belt land significantly. It is the 
greatest threat to humanity. To reduce greenhouse gas emissions requires changes, 
amongst others, to how we generate and store power. Battery facilities are a necessary part 
of this. 
 
This application is for a storage facility adjacent to the large and tall electrical substation and 
in comparison, especially with the proposed screening, will have little detrimental visual 
impact. A noise assessments has been completed to the relevant British and International 
Standards concluding the noise emissions can be satisfactorily controlled. The report 
concludes the development will deliver a measurable net gain to biodiversity, in accordance 
with the NPPF 
 

Page 16



The development of solar power and battery storage facilities is of immense benefit to 
society as we tackle the growing threat of global warming, and the UKs has been emitting 
green house gases through fossil fuel use for over 200 years. This benefit far outweighs the 
detriment as battery facilities help to reduce the use of fossil fuels. Such battery facilities 
contribute to the security and stability of the energy supply and national energy strategy and 
therefore are supported within the NPPF. A battery facility does not constitute urban sprawl 
nor the coalescence of towns. Also, the proposed development is, in terms of the 
surrounding context, of low impact. 
 
Letter of support  Moorlands Climate Action 
 

We specifically address the question of location of essential battery storage in the Moorlands 
and ask the question: If not here, where? We respectfully point to the Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Councils declaration of a climate emergency on July 10th 2019,  
 
We note that: Energy storage will be a significant enabler of the renewable energy adoption 
required for the UK to achieve its legal requirement to meet net zero by 2050.We point to 
this statement from Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Minister Kwasi Kwarteng in 
July 2020. The key to capturing the full value of renewables is in ensuring homes and 
businesses can still be powered by green energy even when the sun is not shining, or the 
wind has stopped blowing. 
 
We point to this statement from National Grid ESOs head of markets, Kayte ONeill: "How we 
operate Great Britain's grid is changing, with record levels of renewable sources generating 
our power. Storage can help us make the most of this green energy, using it to manage 
peaks and troughs in demand and operate the electricity system as efficiently as possible - 
keeping costs down for consumers too." 
 
We draw particular attention to the role that storage plays   by providing back-up for the 
National Grids Balancing Mechanism  
 
We point to the guidance issued by Western Power Distribution, highlighting some of the 
benefits of increased energy storage:  

 deferment in the reinforcement of both transmission and distribution system assets 
that would otherwise be required to provide additional capacity  

 Potential benefits for the end user in the form of reduced energy bills 

 Provision of system stability during electricity outages 
 
We point to the House of Lords Science and Technology Select Committee 1st Report. 
Without batteries of different scales and potentially fuel cells drawing on stored hydrogen, 
increasing amounts of renewable energy will be wasted. Without smart operation and 
storage, the costs of grid expansion will be significantly higher. 
 
The increased uptake of electric vehicles and electric-dependent heating systems will 
increase aggregate demand for electricity  
 
Increased demand runs the risk of extra congestion on electricity networks and may trigger 
network upgrades. Energy storage can help avoid or defer costly rebuilding of electricity 
transmission and distribution networks, reducing bottle necks on the grid. 
 
Residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands are distinctly average in the amount of electricity 
they consume (source BEIS Subnational Consumption Figures 2020) 
 

Page 17



Residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands will be as entitled as any in the land to expect a 
modern, flexible and safe power network to allow them to take advantage of the transition to 
heating their homes and powering their cars by electricity rather than fossil fuels. Indeed, in 
the future, they will be able to save on heating and driving costs by plugging in home and EV 
vehicle systems to the Grid and selling excess power back. But this will only happen if local 
flexibility is available in the distribution network. 
Electricity does not behave like water or gas. It can be transported long distances but loses 
capacity as kilometres march on. In the absence of the required local infrastructure capacity 
constraints build up. 
 
The National Grid already possesses some large-scale storage and balancing capacity 
(principally two remote water pumping schemes) but it widely accepted that what is required 
in a modern system is a network of much smaller and responsive storage capacity (known 
as frequency response services). 
 
Battery Storage can provide this service as these can respond within a fraction of a second 
to deviations from the target 50Hz frequency and start exporting or importing power, i.e. 
providing either additional generation or demand. 
 
These facilities are necessarily more widely distributed and at many more points along the 
transmission network. 
 
Transmission and future storage in the Moorlands 
 
The key transmission network running through the Moorlands is the 400kV ZE Drakelow-
Cellarhead/Cellarhead-Macclesfield line. Various 132kV lines run from Cellarhead to supply 
some of the Potteries and most of the Moorlands. (There is also a 132kV line running directly 
from Rugeley to Forsbrook.) 
 
Large-scale battery storage needs to be located next to major sub-stations for widely 
understood and accepted reasons of cost, efficiency, safety and the avoidance of expensive 
and disruptive cabling works. 
 
It is therefore both inevitable and functionally desirable that storage applications will centre 
on Cellarhead (other potential, but far less flexible 132kV substations just over the District 
boundary at Chatterley Whitfield and Forsbrook have attracted or may attract storage 
applications, as has the co-located Lower Newton solar PV site). 
 
The Cellarhead substation is located in the Green Belt as a result of decisions made long 
ago. (Many key substations up and down the land are inevitably located in Green Belts  ¿ a 
result of the demand for energy in conurbations and associated population centres.) 
 
Unless Cellarhead substation is moved lock, stock and barrel out of the Green Belt, or the 
boundaries of the Green Belt are moved ¿ neither are, of course, feasible or likely ¿ it is 
inevitable that applications such as the current one will involve the Green Belt and its special 
planning requirements. 
 
We note the comment of SMDC planning officer Jane Curley effectively asking if the 
applicant has considered other options. We cannot speak directly for the applicant but 
assume that they have indeed. No sponsor of such a scheme willingly ventures into the 
Green Belt unless all other options have been exhausted.  The Planning requirements are 
too onerous and, unlike many proposed housing schemes, where the Green Belt is seen as 
a desirable place in which to live, there is no additional value to the sponsor in placing 
electricity infrastructure in such landscape. 
 

Page 18



We ask rather of SMDC: If not here, where? Can SMDC identify where in the Moorlands are 
suitable sites to add the storage required to add the required flexibility to the local system  
and to fulfil their many public statements (set down in the Local Plan and elsewhere) to get 
to Net Zero by 2030 and, specifically, to encourage the growth of renewable energy. 
 
Where in the Moorlands is a substation which offers access to the 400 kV National Grid and 
which is not in the Green Belt? We do not know of such a thing. 
 
If the underlying question then becomes why does storage have to be in the Moorlands at all 
there are a number of compelling reasons, of functionality, policy, equity and related. The 
general point that the Moorlands places as much demand on the Grid as elsewhere has 
already been made, as has the need for more local storage and flexibility in a modern 
generation and distribution system. 
 
There is of course, no equivalent to the Local Plan for energy-associated infrastructure of 
this sort. SMDC does not possess the knowledge, officer capacity or inclination to create 
such a thing. 
 
We respectfully argue that, should it be suggested, any proposed deferral of planning 
applications such as the current one until a strategic review is undertaken in the Moorlands 
must be seen for what it will be a delaying tactic only, and one in direct contradiction to 
SMDC oft-stated desire to achieve Net Zero by 2030. 
 
Under EU and UK law DNO are not permitted to develop energy storage facilities 
themselves and must procure services from third parties.  
 
To be credible a storage project must have obtained a Connection to Grid Offer from either 
the regional DNO or Grid (or both). These are expensive, time consuming and not lightly 
given (there is a queuing system in operation). 
 
We respectfully argue that given the framework outlined above the existence of a valid Grid 
Connection Offer for a project must be taken as prima facie evidence of the existence of 
local need for the facility. 
 
We note that the Green Belt is intended to prevent the spread of urban settlements, not to 
hinder the emergence of (when very necessary) infrastructure in the countryside. 
 
The Green Belt never has been considered an automatic no-go area for these type of 
projects. It is harder, of course, to demonstrate the coalescence of circumstances required to 
place them in the Green Belt but we point to a number of recent decisions on this point, 
including most recently, the July 2021 decision of councillors in Brentwood to grant 
permission for such a facility in the Green Belt. 
 
In their decision, the councillors explicitly overruled the advice of their officers and took into 
account the own councils declaration of a climate emergency and subsequent commitments. 
 
Cheddleton Parish Council  

Object on grounds of safety concerns which has been reported to the House of Lords 
Science and Technology committee and Green Belt land which requires exceptional 
circumstances for approval. 
 
Environmental Health Officer  

Recommends refusal due to predicted nightime noise levels having an adverse impact on 
residential amenity  
 

Page 19



Landscape consultant  

Recommends refusal. Advises that there will be net landscape and visual harm. The 
Landscape character is neither conserved or enhanced.  Mitigation measures will address 
some but not all landscape and visual change. Advises that there are some landscape 
positives such as wildflower meadow creation and suggests some modifications to the 
access.  
 
Local Highway Authority 

Awaited  
 
Local Lead Flood Authority  

No objection subject to condition   
. 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 

No objection subject to conditions. 
Secure via condition should approval be granted: 
1. Long-term habitat management plan to secure net gain habitats for the minimum period. 
2. Bat method statement for any tree works (e.g. limb removal, felling), including bat 
survey of any moderate-high potential trees as per the ecological appraisal. 
3. Nesting bird precautions for any hedgerow and/or tree works. 
4. Bat box enhancements (suggested minimum of 6), shown on updated landscaping plan. 
5. Bird box enhancements (suggested minimum of 6), shown on updated landscaping 
plan. 
 
DESIGNATED WILDLIFE SITES & WIDER ECOLOGICAL NETWORK 
Impacts to important sites are not anticipated. Furthermore, the proposed habitat 
enhancements will help to improve habitat connectivity in the area. 
 
HABITATS 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

The application includes a biodiversity impact assessment using DEFRA metric 3.0 which 
shows a net gain in both habitat and hedgerow units. All habitats appear to have been 
included. Although the survey was undertaken outside of the optimal period we do not feel 
additional survey effort is required in this case due to the present nature of the fields. The 
suggested enhancements and habitat creation appear suitable. We welcome the suggestion 
of green hay strewing and may be able to help identify a suitable donor site. We are happy 
for the habitat proposals to go ahead as shown within the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment 
(FPCR, January 2022). A long term habitat management plan will be required. 
  
Trees and hedgerows 

The ecological appraisal found hedgerow 6 (H6) to be of importance under the Hedgerow 
Regulations (1997). A section of this hedge is to be removed to facilitate site access. 
However, from aerial photography this appears to be located within an existing gap between 
the trees. This will also be compensated for by the proposed additional hedgerow planting 
and enhancements as part of the net gain proposals. 
 
The recommendations as set out in the arboricultural assessment must be followed in full 
with 
regards to Root Protection Areas (RPAs) for all retained features. Please also note the 
comments for bats and birds below. 
 
SPECIES 
Bats 

The Ecological Appraisal found numerous trees on site to have moderate bat potential. Any 
works to these trees such as limb removal or felling will need to be preceded by a bat survey 

Page 20



to check for bat roosts. As the arboricultural report recommends some trees with signs of 
decay to be removed or monitored, we recommend that a bat method statement is in place 
for these works as a further precaution – this should include a bat survey if they were 
identified as having bat potential in the Ecological Appraisal. 
 

The ecological appraisal recommends that Schwegler (or similar) 1F bat boxes are installed 
on retained trees on the eastern or northern site boundaries as a species enhancement. We 
suggest a minimum of 6 as compensation for potential lost tree roosting opportunities.  
 
Birds 

Any tree or hedgerow works must take place outside of the bird nesting season (March – 
August, inclusive), or be subject to an inspection by an ecologist prior to works commencing. 
Any nests encountered (including those in the process of being built) must be left 
undisturbed with a suitable buffer zone until all birds have fledged.  
 

The ecological appraisal recommends that “a mixture of small hole (26 mm and 32 mm) nest 
boxes such as the 1B Schwegler nest boxes” are included as an enhancement. These 
should be included and shown on an updated landscaping plan. We suggest a minimum of 6 
as compensation for potential lost tree nesting opportunities. 
 
SCC Mineral Safequarding  

No objection  
 
Ramblers Association  

If development takes place,three p.r.o.w could be effected Cheddleton 47-- 53 and 60. 
These paths should be kept safe to use for the public during and after development. 
 
Peak and Northern Footpath Society  

We note that the PROWs Cheddleton 47, 53, and 60 are within the proposed site. 
Use of the PROWs, and the safety of users must not be affected by the development, nor 
during the work taking 
place. 
 
Severn Trent Water 
As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system advise no objections to 
the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied 
 

 
7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE  

 

7.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the Development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle 
7.2  The application site is a greenfield site which lies within the Green belt. The applicant 
agrees that the proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt because it 
does not relate to any of the exceptions set out in the NPPF.  

7.3 Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances. When considering any planning application, 
the NPPF says that LPA’s should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

Page 21



7.4 Paragraph 151 says that when located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable 
energy projects will comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need 
to demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased 
production of energy from renewable sources. 
 
7.5 In this case, in addition to definitional harm there would be significant harm to openness, 
the essential characteristics of the Green Belt. This would arise from the concentrated nature 
of the proposal which would appear urban and industrial amounting to a series of 
batteries/containers, and hard surfacing enclosed with 2.4m high  perimeter and 4m high 
acoustic fencing.  There would also be conflict with one of the main purposes of including 
land within the Green Belt namely that of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 
The totality of the Green belt harm would be significant 
 
7.6  The applicants have set out a case for very special circumstances which in their view 
outweighs the harm. This is considered more fully in the Green Belt balance and conclusion 
below 
 
7.7 For the reasons above however it is concluded that significant harm to the Green Belt 
would occur. The Framework states in paragraph 148 that when considering any planning 
application, substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. On the face of 
it therefore, there is conflict with Policy SS10 and the NPPF.   
 
Access 
7.8  The site will be accessed via the existing Cellarhead Substation access road which runs 
to the south of the site from Rownall Road.  It is proposed to construct a new access to link 
this road to the application site. The connection will be to the south of the site. In addition, 
the existing track to the west  of the site (which currently serves a farm yard and buildings) 
will be used as a secondary access during the operational phase by the DNO (District 
Network Operator) who will have access to the substation compound to the north eastern 
corner of the site.  
 
7.9The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) and an outline 
Construction Environmental Management Plan. The application states that once operational 
the facility will be unmanned and that traffic generation will be minimal.  The TS states that 
following completion of construction works, the southern access will continue to be used by 
one vehicle a month visiting site for maintenance and repair reasons. It goes on to say that 
the northern access point will be utilised by the DNO (District Network Operator) who will 
have access to the substation compound and that it is expected that once the site is 
operational this access will be used once a month for maintenance and repair works by the 
DNO.  
 
7.10 The TS also confirms that the proposal does not involve the diversion or closure of any 
public rights of way, which are to remain fully operational for the duration of the construction 
works and during the operational period.  
 
7.11 The comments of the LHA are awaited although they are not expected to object to the 
application.   
 
Residential amenity including consideration of noise 
7.12 There are a number of residential properties in the vicinity of the site and the protection 
of their amenity is a material consideration.  
 
7.13 The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment. The assessment uses the 
closest residential property to the site (Dove Cottage).  It says that this location is also 

Page 22



representative of other residential properties in the Rownall Hall area to the east of the site. 
Other properties to the north and south of the site are further away and therefore the noise 
impact will be lower than at the location assessed. The conclusion of the assessment is that 
with the mitigation proposed, which includes a 4m acoustic barrier on the northern, eastern 
and southern boundaries and equipment designed to mimisie noise emissions. It concludes 
that noise impact would be low both during the day and night.   
 
7.14  The Environmental Health Officer has carefully considered the application. He has 
recommended refusal of the application because the predicted night time noise levels would 
exceed current night time background noise levels and in his view this could potentially 
adversely impact on the amenity of nearby residents.  He says if the similar proposal 
SMD/2021/0695 (also on this Agenda) were to be consented  the cumulative effect would 
increase noise levels further and increase the night time exceedance.  He comments that 

this is a rural area and although the predicted noise levels are low this is against low  

current background noise level.   
 
7.15 For these reasons there is conflict with Policy SD 4 and the NPPF which says that 
planning decisions should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts 
resulting from new development 
 
Flood risk 
7.16The site lies within Flood zone 1 which is land at lowest risk of flooding. A Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy (FRA) has been provided, as required, because the site 
area exceeds 1 hectare. It proposes a SuDS strategy.  Infiltration testing has been carried 
out and has been found to suitable for managing surface water.  
 
 7.17 The Local Lead Flood Authority have considered the submitted FRA. They raise no 
objection to the application subject to conditions.  With these in place there is compliance 
with Policy SD5 and the NPPF.  
 
Heritage 
7.18  There are number of Listed buildings within the vicinity of the application site however 
none will be directly affected by the proposed development. The application is supported by 
an Archaeological Desk Based and Heritage and Assessment. It identifies 5 Listed buildings 
within 1 km of the application site. It concludes that no registered Historic Landscape, 
Conservation Area, scheduled Monument or Historic Park & Garden will be directly or 
indirectly affected by the  proposed development. It also concludes that no Listed building 
will be directly affected by the proposed development. It considers that there may be a minor 
to negligible indirect impact on the setting of the Grade II Listed Stables to Rownall Hall (Hall 
Now Demolished) (LB 1188808); Barn Stables 20 Yards To South West Of Ivy House 
Farmhouse (LB 1188812); Ivy House Farmhouse (LB 1038080); Rownall Farmhouse (LB 
1038081); and Barn Approximately 10 Metres South Of Rownall (LB 1374618). However, it 
says that due to the current adverse aspect of the site when viewed from these heritage 
assets, and if current proposals for green infrastructure screening are adopted, then the 
proposed development may have a positive impact on the setting of these heritage assets. 
The screening would occupy the high ground along the eastern boundary of the site, so 
mitigating the pre-existing visual impact from pylons associated with the Cellarhead 
substation behind.  
 
7.19 One non-designated site of archaeological interest has been identified within 1km of the 
proposed development area that may indirectly impacted upon: Rownall Hall Park 
(MST6175), a Landscaped Park recorded on the Staffordshire HER. The indirect impact on 
the setting of this heritage asset will also be minor to negligible. 
 

Page 23



7.20 The submitted Assessment which has been prepared in accordance with Historic 
England Guidance  is considered to be a thorough and proportionate  assessment of 
designated and non-designated heritage assessments.  No harm to heritage assets has 
been identified and as such there is no conflict with Policy DC2 or the NPPF.  
  
Landscape and Visual impact 
7.21 The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Appraisal. It has been 
considered on behalf of the Council by Stuart Ryder, Landscape consultant. 
 
7.22 The submitted LIVIA concludes that without mitigation the effect on landscape 
character once operational would be moderate/minor (adverse) reducing to Minor adverse 
with mitigation. The operational impact on visual receptor groups identified would range from 
Moderate/minor (adverse) reducing to Negligible with mitigation  
 
7.23 A Landscape mitigation strategy is put forward. It is shown on the Landscape Mitigation 
Plan and described in the LIVIA in Section 5 and in the Planning/DAS. It includes  
 

 An area of grassland beneath the existing pylons to be harrowed and re-seeded with 
green hay methods, if possible, intended to remain as grazing land following 
completion, improving the ecological value of the grassland; 

 Surface water drainage features including an infiltration basin in the north western 
corner and two drainage swales adjacent to the proposed vehicular access, planted 
with an appropriate wetland seed mixture; 

 Retained trees and hedgerows, with gaps filled-in with a suitable mixture of native 
species reflective of those found on site; 

 Proposed native tree planting within hedgerows to reflect those existing on site; 
 A belt of native woodland planting with some larger, structural specimens along the 

eastern edge of the site. 
 
As noted elsewhere a further 3.84 hectares of land south of the site, also under control of the 
applicant is proposed to be planted with additional native hedgerows, trees and the 
grassland managed and improved to enhance its ecological value. 
 
7.24  The application site lies within open countryside outside of a settlement  boundary. In 
the Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (LSCA) it is within the landscape 
character type Ancient plateau farmlands. Key characteristics of this landscape are given to 
be:- 
 

 Gentle undulating landform with some steep slopes  

 Drystone walls with remains of unmanaged hedgerows and isolated trees  

 Fields often demarcated by fencing  
 Dairy farming and horse grazing  

 Small woodlands, broadleaf and conifer  

 Isolated stone farm houses and buildings converted to residential dwellings  

 Electricity power lines and substation  
 
7.25 The LSCA refers to incongruous features in this landscape including  the replacement 
of hedges by a variety of fence materials and dominant power lines and electricity substation 
 
7.26 In landscape character terms there is both connectivity with and influences of the 
pastoral landscape to the north, east and south but also influence of the Cellarhead sub-
station to the west albeit that it is relatively well screened. The site is not considered to be a 
‘valued landscape’ (para 174a NPPF). 
 

Page 24



7.27 In terms of landscape effects the proposal will effectively turn this greenfield site into an 
industrial compound. The Landscape consultant says that for the site itself this change can 
only be classified as a Major, Adverse and Permanent effect. The overall character of the 
main site will appear as a large power infrastructure site and the landscape effect will be 
compounded by the adjacent presence of the Cellarhead sub-station. The proposals are not 
considered in keeping with the wider pastoral landscape character of the Ancient plateau 
farmland even though there is the adjacent Cellarhead facility. Any lighting required will add 
to this harm.  
 
7.28  Landscape mitigation is proposed and is shown on the Landscape Mitigation plan  The 
Landscape consultant says that the eastern planting belt will likely screen the battery 
containers from the west in an estimated 6 to 8 years. He concludes that the effect on the 
landscape character of the surrounding area after mitigation planting can be summarised as 
Moderate / Minor, Adverse and Permanent. He says that the planting of the two southern 
fields as a hay meadow would lead to a Moderate, Beneficial and Permanent effect in 
landscape character terms but as he says, this  benefit is to the character of the fields 
themselves but character wise they will still have the adverse effect of the battery facility to 
their north. 
 
7.29 In terms of visual effects, there are a number of Public footpaths nearby from which the 
proposal would be visible including Footpath 60 to the south, Footpath 53 to the north and 
east and Footpath 47 to the west. The greatest visual impact will be from the south and east.  
The proposed  eastern woodland belt and planting to the north west will take an estimated 6 
to 8 years to start to be effective at screening in views from Footpath 53 as people walk it in 
a westerly direction towards the site. Although there would be no views from car drivers on 
Rownall Road to the east, a pedestrian would be able to gain a longer range sight to the 
acoustic wall from Rownall Road if they stop to look through a gap in the road side hedge. 
This would appear incongruous and too regular in height and material until the mitigation 
planting establishes. 
 
7.30 The Landscape consultant concludes that given the number of footpaths near to the 
main site and their proximity to it, there will never be total screening of the proposals. Rather 
there will be an ability to see and perceive the presence of an extensive facility set in the 
proximity of the existing Cellarhead sub-station. He assesses the visual effect as Major / 
Moderate, Adverse and Temporary in the first instance until the mitigation planting has 
established when it will decrease to Moderate / Minor, Adverse and Permanent. 
 
7.31 It is also necessary to consider cumulative effect. There are two sets of compound 
effects to be considered in this case, firstly with the existing Cellarhead sub-station, and 
secondly with a similar development proposed under SMD/2021/0695 and considered 
elsewhere on this Agenda. 
 
7.32 The proposal will appear and be judged as extending Cellarhead sub-station. This is 
due to it being experienced in proximity to Cellarhead and because it already has existing 
pylons within the main site fields. The balance at the moment is that pylons exist in a rural 
field but should development be allowed then the sense of rurality would be removed and it 
would be perceptually linked with Cellarhead even with existing and proposed vegetation 
physically separating the two sites. Should SMD/2021/0695 be consented and built out, this 
site would become the middle block of three and the easterly spread of power infrastructure 
would be greater and more readily perceived from Rownall Road until mitigation planting is 
established. It would also create a larger power park to be experienced at close range from 
Footpath 53 that would run past both proposals and then past Cellarhead itself on Footpath 
47. 
 

Page 25



7.33 Policy DC3 says that the Council will protect and where possible enhance local 
landscape by amongst other matters, resisting development which would lead to a prominent 
intrusion into the countryside; support development which respects and enhances local 
landscape character; support opportunities to positively manage the  landscape and use 
sustainable building techniques and materials sympathetic to the area and conserve or 
enhance biodiversity. 
 
7.34 In this particular case, the conclusion for the reasons above and notwithstanding the 
biodiversity net gain (see discussion elsewhere) and the positive management of the 
mitigation planting,  is that the proposal does not respect or enhance local landscape  
character. It cannot be classed as leading to a net improvement in local landscape 
character.  Given the number of footpaths close to the site, there will never be total 
screening of the proposals albeit that this intrusion is not considered to be prominent due to 
the existing pylons influencing its landscape character and the fact that the site is a relatively 
discrete location within the local landscape. Furthermore the materials and building form are 
clearly not sympathetic to the area. 
 
 7.35 For these reasons there is conflict with Policy DC3 and the NPPF which says that 
planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
amongst other matters recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside  
 
Biodiversity  
7.36 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal (EA) and Biodiversity 
Impact Assessment (BIA), the latter using the DEFRA metric 3.0 which shows a net gain in 
both habitat and hedgerow units. The site is dominated by improved grassland which is 
considered to be of  low nature conservation  value. Hedgerows form the boundary of the 
site with a single hedgerow through the centre. All hedgerows  comprised of at least 80% 
native species were therefore considered habitats of principal importance (NERC, S41). 
There are mature trees within the hedgerows providing features that may have the potential 
to support  roosting bats.  
 
7.37 The Ecological Appraisal confirms that the proposal will result in the loss of the majority 
of improved grassland on site, with the exception of the north-west corner where electricity 
pylons are located. Hedgerows along the site boundary and through the centre of the site 
are expected to be retained, although a small section of hedgerow H6 will require removal to 
facilitate the new access road. Mature boundary trees are all expected to be retained 
throughout the proposals. Given the percentage of the site being lost to development, off-site 
areas are required to compensate for the loss and to deliver a net gain in biodiversity. Use of 
pasture fields to the south of the site have been assessed in order to provide this off-site 
enhancement 
 
7.38 The BIA confirms that approx. 0.8 ha of the on-site grassland area is to be retained as it 
is located underneath electricity pylons. This will be enhanced to provide a biodiversity gain.  
Other on-site enhancement includes woodland planting along the eastern boundary, 
enhancement to all hedgerows and additional tree planting provided along the southern 
boundary. The infiltration basin will be sown with wetland grasses and swales designed 
along both sides of the new access track. The majority of grassland lost will be compensated 
for by the creation of herb rich neutral grassland on 3.91 ha of off-site land immediately to 
the south.     
 
7.39 With these measures included the biodiversity net gain calculation indicates a 19.85% 
gain in habitat units and a 58.1% gain in hedgerow units.  
 

Page 26



7.40 The application has been reviewed by Staffordshire Wildlife Trust on behalf of the 
Council. They raise no objection to the application subject to conditions to secure the net 
gain  and with these in place there is compliance with Policy NE2 and the NPPF 
 
Mineral Safeguarding  
7.41  Staffs CC confirm that the entire site falls within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSA) 
for Bedrock Sand, as defined in the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire (2015 – 2030). In 
addition, a small part of the eastern end of the site also lies within the MSA for Silica Sand, 
and the eastern tip is also within the MSA for Shallow Coal and Fireclay. However they 
advise that the development is temporary, with the expectation that the battery packs, switch 
gear etc. would be removed at some point in the future. Only the concrete plinths would be 
fixed, and these too would be removed when the facility was decommissioned. They would 
not be of sufficient depth to affect any underlying minerals. On this basis they raise no 
objection to the application on mineral safeguarding grounds  
 
Tree protection 
7.42  All trees and hedgerows are retained and can be suitably protected during construction 
to ensure no conflict with Policy NE2 
 
Green Belt Balance and Conclusion  
7.43 By law this application must be determined in accordance with the Development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
7.44 The applicant has put forward a number of considerations which he considers amount 
to  very special circumstances in this case. They are set out in detail in the Planning Design 
and Access Statement and summarised at para 5.7.35 as:-  
 
a)Due to the nature of the proposal, it needs to be located in close proximity to a point of 
connection to the grid, which itself is located in the Green Belt;  

b)The grid network has capacity for the proposed development;  

c)The scheme will support and enable the deployment of renewable energy generation and 
provide a direct replacement to gas fired power generation in meeting electricity demand at 
peak times thus making an essential contribution to addressing the impact of climate 
change.  

d)The existing landscape context means the site makes a limited contribution to the 
openness of the wider Green Belt;  

e)The design and siting combined with the proposed mitigation has been well considered 
and will minimise the perceived impact on the Green Belt;  

f)The proposal will deliver ecological and landscape improvements;  

g)The proposal is for a temporary period of 40 years, after which all equipment is to be 
removed and the site reinstated to its current use.  
 
Green Belt harm  
7.45 The proposal has been found to be inappropriate  development in the Green Belt which 
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. Furthermore, the proposal would significantly  
reduce openness by replacing open fields with a battery storage compound.  The 
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness and 
permanence. The proposal would also conflict with one of the main purposes of including 
land within the Green Belt namely that of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  
The totality of the Green Belt harm is very significant and substantial weight must be given to 
this harm  (para 148) .  
 
Other harm  

Page 27



7.46 In addition to this Green Belt harm,  there would be harm to the character and 
appearance of the area as discussed above and conflict with Policy DC3 and the NPPF. The 
proposals will effectively turn this greenfield site into an industrial compound. It will neither 
respect or enhance local landscape character. The materials and building form are clearly 
not sympathetic to the landscape when compared to traditional materials used in the area. 
There would also be intrusion arising from the new facility but it is not considered prominent 
in terms of Policy DC3.  This is because the existing pylons influence its landscape character 
so the facility does not appear as incongruous and is a relatively discrete location within the 
local landscape. Significant  weight is given to the landscape harm  
 
7.47 There would also be harm to residential amenity and conflict with Policy SD4 as a result 
of predicted night time noise levels exceeding existing night-time background noise levels.  
Moderate weight is given to this harm 
 
Benefits – other considerations 
7.48 In terms of the considerations put forward by the applicant, the need for battery storage 
nationally as a means to assist in balancing the Grid is accepted. The proposal would help 
contribute to meeting this need and this is a positive benefit of the scheme. Although not 
generating renewable energy in its own right batter storage does have an important role to 
play in providing greater capacity and flexibility in the electricity network. It supports the 
move towards low carbon energy increasingly supplied by renewable energy which is a more 
variable  supply as it is weather dependent. Para 152 of the NPPF says that the planning 
system should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. The 
proposal would also contribute towards the government’s net zero target by 2050 and the 
Council  declared  climate emergency (10th July 2019) and its commitment to making the 
Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030. Significant  weight is given to the 
contribution the proposal would make to supporting renewable and low carbon energy and 
addressing climate change. 
 
7.49. The applicant does have a connection agreement with National Grid, however there is 
no evidence that the need for storage can only be met on this particular site. Members will 
be aware for example that the Council has three other applications for battery storage 
facilities in the District currently pending consideration (one is elsewhere on this Agenda). 
Furthermore National Grid confirm that the connection agreement for this particular proposal 
will require the Cellarhead  substation itself to be expanded beyond its existing footprint. 
However no details are before the Council. These matters limit the weight that can be given 
to the consideration put forward by the applicant in respect of capacity 
 
7.50 Although the proposal would deliver a net gain in biodiversity, this is a requirement of 
Policy NE2 and the NPPF. It attracts only limited weight in the overall balance  
 
Conclusion  
7.51 Policy SS10 and the Framework states that very special circumstances will not exist 
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. For the 
reasons above in this case the harm to the Green belt to which substantial weight must be 
given and the landscape and visual harm are not clearly outweighed by the other 
considerations. A recommendation of refusal is therefore made 
 
 

8. RECOMMENDATION 
A        That planning permission be refused subject to the following reasons:- 

 
1. This site consists of agricultural land. It is greenfield and lies within the Green 

Belt. The proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

Page 28



which is harmful by definition. The development would, in addition 
significantly compromise openness by replacing open fields with a 
development of industrial character and appearance. Openness and 
permanence are, the NPPF confirms, the essential characteristics of the Green 
Belt. The fundamental aim of Green belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open. Furthermore there would be conflict with one 
of the main purposes of including land within the Green Belt namely that of 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The totality of the Green 
Belt harm is significant and Local Planning Authorities are required to give 
substantial weight to any harm to the Green Belt. It is not considered that the 
other considerations put forward by the applicant amount to the very special 
circumstances to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm. 
It is for these reasons that the proposal is contrary to Policy SS10 of the 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and advice in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
2. The site lies outside a settlement boundary in the open countryside. It is within 

the Landscape character type of Ancient plateau farmland.  The overall 
landscape character is of rural pastoral fields with also influence of the 
Cellarhead sub-station to the west albeit that it is relatively well screened. It is 
considered that introducing what is effectively an industrial compound into 
this landscape would result in a significant and harmful landscape and visual 
change. It would neither respect nor enhance local landscape character. The 
site is visible from a number of public rights of way. From these public routes 
views of the development would be readily available until the extensive 
planting put forward has begun to provide any effective screening which could 
take many years. However there will never be total screening of the proposals. 
Rather there will be an ability to see and perceive the presence of an extensive 
facility set in the proximity of the existing Cellarhead sub-station.  It would 
result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the area. For 
these reasons there is conflict with Policy DC3 of the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Local Plan and the NPPF which says that planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by amongst other matters 
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. 
 

3. There are a number of residential properties close to the site. The predicted 
night time noise levels set out in the submitted Noise Assessment would 
exceed current night time background noise levels in this rural area. It is 
considered that this would   potentially adversely impact on the amenity of 
nearby residents in conflict with Policy SD4 of the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Local Plan and advice in the NPPF 

 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 

decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 

 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

Page 30



 
 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
16th June 2022 

 
Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0695 

Location Land Adjacent Cellarhead Substation 
Rownall Road 
Wetley Rocks 
Staffordshire 

Proposal Erection of a Flexible Energy Facility 
Applicant C and S Energy Ltd 
Agent Surface Planning  
Parish/ward  Date registered 3/11/2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Curley  tel: 01538 

395400 ex 4124 Jane.curley@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
REFERRAL 
 

This is a contentious major development in the Green Belt     
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
REFUSE 

 

 
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The site consists of agricultural land amounting to approximately 9 hectares.  It lies to the 
east of Cellarhead substation (albeit not adjacent to it) and to the west of Rownall Road to 
which the site has frontage. It is  within the Green Belt. To the north, south and west the site 
adjoins agricultural land.  The site is to be accessed via an existing gated agricultural access 
on Rownall Road. From here a new access track, 5m in width will be constructed leading to 
the site running parallel to the northern boundary. For the first 15m it will be of bound 
surface. 
 
2.2 The application site consists of three fields. The main compound is proposed to be sited 
in the most western field.  Only part of the eastern field is required for the new access and 
planting but it is all included; the applicant says to allow for the construction compound, 
facilities and lay down areas which would be detailed in the Construction Management Plan 
and to provide flexibility on the final landscaping details. The southerly field is shown to be 
proposed  wholly for mitigatory woodland planting.  
 
2.3 Although the total area of the application site is 9 hectares,  the applicant says that the 
actual area of development (plant, machinery and access route) is 3.42 hectares.  
 
2.4  Public footpath 53 runs along the southern boundary of the site and part of the western 
boundary. Footpaths 42 and 43 head to the east down into the Churnet Valley 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

 
3.1 This is a full application for a Battery storage facility. The proposed facility consists of  

 224 containers ( each of which consists of 10 battery cabinets 1550mm x 1050mm x 
2280mm, drawing 302A) aligned in rows in a north- south direction with a 3m 
concrete fire wall in between each set 
 

 112 power stations including transformers  each measuring 6058mm x 2433mm x 
2896 
 

 2 Switch rooms which are raised from the ground on a series of ‘legs’  dimensions 
each of 20m by 3.5m by 4.13m in height to allow cabling and services to be run 
underneath  
 

 A substation, part of which is ‘open’ part fully enclosed. The section (Drawing 307B) 
show elements of this building to be approx. 9m high. The sections also show that  
the ground is to be excavated to depths of between 5-8 metres to house the 
substation. This is to ensure it is said that no part of the building is visible above the 
acoustic fencing  

 

 A DNO GRP cabinet will be located outside of the compound next to the gated 
access point. This is shown to be a metal cabinet of 5840mm x 3580mm x 3100mm   
 

 4-metre high acoustic fence enclosure around the entire site with one solid gate.  
 

 A new access track will run from the existing gated access point on Rownall Road for 
approximately 200 metres to the facility access gate. It will be 5m in width and will be 
surfaced in tarmac for the first 15m from the edge of the highway, thereafter geogrid 
or similar material  

 
3.2   The application documents (FRA) refer to the fact that the proposed finished 
development levels have yet to be finalised, however it says that they will generally reflect 
the prevailing topography, with some localised raising and lowering of levels to facilitate 
suitable workable plateaus for level access and servicing.  
 
3.3 The proposed battery sets and other plant will be located on concrete plinths, with other 
areas within the facility laid to permeable gravel. All cabling, including the connection to 
Cellarhead Substation to the west, will be underground, and no overhead electricity 
transmission infrastructure will be required.  
 
3.4 The facility will provide 349 MW of electrical export/import capacity. It is said that the 
facility will be remotely operated, receiving excess power from the grid at times of surplus 
and returning power at times of excess demand.  
 
3.5 The applicant says that without a storage facility at Cellarhead, the region will be at 
increasing risk of localised grid failure which could not be effectively mitigated by storage 
facilities in other parts of the country due to the effect of power losses when electricity is 
transmitted over long distances. He says that Cellarhead substation is the only GSP in the 
region with sufficient import capacity for a connection above 200MW.  
 
3.6 The Access Strategy says that the majority of vehicles to be used in the construction of 
the scheme will be light commercial vehicles, with larger vehicles used for transformers and 
32-tonne containerised vehicles used for delivery of the main plant. Vehicles over 8.5m in 

Page 34



length (“long vehicle”) or over 2.4m in width (“wide vehicle”) will be accompanied by a trained 
banksman. The arrival of all construction vehicles will be organised by onsite management 
and vehicles will also notify the site manager at least 20 minutes prior to their arrival. 
 
It is anticipated that there will be between 7 – 15 vehicles per day; 2-5 Civil Work vehicles 
and 5-10 BESS Construction vehicles. Some construction stages will have significantly  
fewer vehicle movements than this, and these daily figures represent a worst-case / busiest 
period scenario. It is expected that across the whole 6-month construction period there will 
be circa. 300 vehicles. Construction vehicles will enter and exit from the south via the A52 
and Rownall Road. All construction vehicle drivers and on-site staff will be made aware of 
the construction traffic route.  Once operational the facility will be remotely operated and will 
require relatively few visits for the purposes of maintenance throughout the year. As such, 
additional vehicular movements to and from the site associated with the proposed 
development are expected to be negligible.  
 
3.7 The application is accompanied by a Planning Statement , a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment, Tree survey, Phase I Habitat report,  a Noise Impact Assessment and 
Heritage Assessment. Members are advised to study these documents  and the application 
submission prior to the meeting      
 
3.8 The application sought an EIA Screening opinion from the Council. A negative opinion 
was issued on the 5th August 2021 
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
SMD/2019/0568    This site was part of a much larger site for which a negative Screening 
opinion was issued on the 10th October 2019 for a Ground mounted solar farm 

 
5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (adopted September 2020) 
 

 
 SS1    Development Principles 
 SS10  Rural area strategy  
 SD1    Sustainable Use of Resources 
 SD2   Renewable/low carbon energy 
 SD3    Carbon-saving Measures in Development 
 SD4     Pollution  
 SD5     Flood risk  
 DC1     Design Considerations 
 DC2     Heritage 
 DC3     Landscape and visual impact  
 NE1     Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
 NE 2    Trees, Hedges and woodland  
 T1        Development and Sustainable Transport 
 T2        Other Sustainable Transport Measures 

 
National Planning Policy NPPF 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 

Page 35



Press Notice expiry date:   Expired  
Site Notice expiry date:      Expired  
Local residents have been notified by letter.  
 
3 Households have written letters of objection. The main points are:-   
 

 The location maps used in this application are inaccurate and out of date. My home 
occupies the footstamp of the former Rownall Hall which lies between Home Farm 
and Rownall Hall Farm. TheLVA figure 5  localised site context incorrectly captions 
Home Farm as Rownall Hall. Rownall Ridge lies north of Home Farm, between Home 
Farm and Rownall Hall Farm! My home is therefore within approximately 100 yds of 
the proposed perimeter installation! 

 Noise - the existing noise level from the National Grid transformer station fluctuates 
not only with weather conditions and wind levels but also it seems according to its 
operation of partial or full transformer banks! In recent years the following the 
substantial enlargement of the facility, the noise level has increased appreciably! 
Therefore noise monitoring survey conclusions carried out already should be viewed 
knowing the precise environmental and operational conditions ruling at the time!? 
This very large battery facility necessitates equally large inverter and air conditioning 
installations which can only further add to the already significant noise nuisance! 

 Risk of Explosion - The risk of explosion involving bulk storage Lithium batteries is 
considered considerable and proportional to the size of the facility and one which is 
considered very much higher if the site is not manned, monitored and managed full 
time night and day, 7 days a week! 

 Risk of Fire - Following any explosion it is likely a large fireball would erupt which 
could likely be carried in the prevailing westerly wind through the vegetation and tree 
screening canopy into my mature coppice adjoining Rownall Road and my home. 
The conclusion being that my home would lie directly and immediately within any line 
of fire!? 

 I would seriously question the suitability of the identified location which surely would if 
it is going to go ahead despite Green Belt, environment considerations be far better 
positioned either west, north or south of the National Grid  away from ANY existing 
dwellings 

 serious worries over the access route to this particular site along Rownall Road 
which is already a very dangerous stretch of road over blind bends with the capability 
of only single track travel over the entire length between The junction with Mill Lane 
and Rownall Hall Farm. It is imperative that any access approval is given only via the 
National Grid complex and their own access Road therefore avoiding this very 
hazardous length of dangerous narrow roads with blind entrances !  

 You may or may not be aware of this seemingly dormant company registered on 17 
December 2019 which may indicate the direction and intended future use of 
approximately 150 acres of existing farmed land between Rownall Road and Thorney 
Edge Road at Rownall?! A solar farm on this acreage could nett the landowners £900 
per acre per annum for 40 years equalling £135,000 per year and approximately 
£5.5m for the period term of contract assuming no renegotiation! This of course 
addition to an undisclosed income generated the leased land from the same 
landowners battery storage facility! 

 Having previously lived on Rownall Road for nearly 20 years, I write to voice my 
objection to this proposed development. I find it impossible to believe that an 
alternative brown field site cannot be utilised within the curtilage of the existing sub-
station rather than stealing more of the greenbelt for development. The fact that the 
proposed site has been productive farmland for generations only exacerbates the 
loss to our local countryside. Surely the role of authority in this situation is to control 

Page 36



development rather than allow what is an existing blot on the landscape to expand 
further. 

 Of further concern is the proximity of the development to the longstanding residents 
of Rownall and public rights of way which pass so close to the proposed site. The risk 
of explosion from bulk storage lithium batteries is well documented which, combined 
with the inevitable severe fire risk resulting from an explosion, puts all those in the 
vicinity at risk; a risk that is exasperated by the proposed site being unmanned. 

 The accompanying dark cloud is the impending application for the solar farm which 
would blanket the surrounding countryside around the proposed battery storage 
facility (which I understand a screening opinion from SMDC has already been 
sought). It can only be assumed that the battery facility has been planned as the hub 
for the aforementioned solar farm. If that is the case, the objection based on the 
effect on local wildlife and the countryside it will consume cannot be voiced loudly 
enough. With resident barn owls in the immediate vicinity, visiting Little owls, kestrels 
and a more recent sighting of a Peregrine falcon (never mind the numerous 
buzzards!), such a facility would amount to removal of habitat. Whilst no doubt 
ground-based wildlife would have the opportunity to adapt, the screening of such an 
area renders it useless for hunting birds of prey which would be a travesty for an area 
of such special interest. 

 : I wish to point out the health and safety of local residents with more properties now 
than shown on the local planning application maps, these batteries are liable to fire 
and explosions especially when unmanned. Also this is good farm land as proven by 
its growing arable crops and being grazed by animals. This  land also supports a 
large variety of wildlife. Rownall Road is a narrow lane with passing places and is 
used by a lot of walkers cyclists and horse riders 

 
Cheddleton Parish Council  

Neither object nor support. Comment that this is in Green Belt so needs to be incredibly 
exceptional circumstances for this to be approved which outweighs the harm. All residents’ 
concerns with regards to noise, safety, screening, trees, bunding and safeguards to protect 
residents and surrounding area. Does this meet requirements for greener energy and help 
with climate emergency? Why is the site double the size when only half is being used for 
batteries and what is meant by flexible site? 
 
Environmental Health Officer 

Recommends refusal due to predicted night time noise levels  
 
Landscape Consultant 

Recommends refusal. Advises that there would be net landscape and visual harm.  
Landscape character is neither conserved or enhanced. Mitigation measures will address 
some but not all landscape and visual change. There are some landscape positives such as 
woodland belt planting 
 
Local Highway Authority 

No objection subject to conditions  
 
Local Lead Flood Authority  

No objection subject to condition   
. 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 

No objection subject to conditions  
 
SCC Mineral Safequarding  

No objection  

Page 37



 
Ramblers Association  

Footpath Cheddleton 53 runs alongside where the proposed development will take place. 
Care must be taken to keep the path open for public use during and after work has been 
done. 
 
Peak and Northern Footpath Society  

We note that the PROWs Cheddleton 42, 43 & 53 are very close to the proposed site. 
Use of the PROW, and the safety of users must not be affected by the development, nor 
during the work taking place. 
 
Severn Trent Water 
As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system advise no objections to 
the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied 
 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE  
 

7.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the Development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle  
7.2 The application site is a greenfield site which lies within the Green belt. The applicant 
agrees that the proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt because it 
does not relate to any of the exceptions set out in the NPPF.  

7.3 Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances. When considering any planning application, 
the NPPF says that LPA’s should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

7.4  Paragraph 151 says that when located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable 
energy projects will comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need 
to demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased 
production of energy from renewable sources. 
 
7.5 In this case, in addition to definitional harm there would be significant harm to openness, 
the essential characteristic of the Green belt. This would arise from the concentrated nature 
of the compound which would appear urban and industrial amounting to a series of 
batteries/containers separated by 3m high concrete fire walls, a substation which is 
excavated up to 8m below ground level, hard surfacing enclosed with 2.4m high  perimeter 
and 4m high acoustic fencing.      There would also be conflict with one of the main purposes 
of including land within the GB namely that of safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment. The totality of the Green belt harm would be significant 
 
7.6  The applicants have set out a case for very special circumstances which , in their view 
outweighs the harm. This is considered more fully in the Green Belt balance and conclusion 
below 
 
7.7 For the reasons above however it is concluded that significant harm to the Green Belt 
would occur. The Framework states in paragraph 148 that substantial weight should be 

Page 38



given to any harm to the Green Belt. On the face of it therefore, there is conflict with Policy 
SS10 and the NPPF.   
 
 
 
Access 
7.8  Access to the site will be from an existing gated agricultural access on Rownall Road. 
From here a new access will be formed through the field  leading to the site. It is approx. 
200m in length and 5m in width. For the first 15m it will be constructed in a bound surface.   
 
7.9 During the processing of the application and in response to additional information   
requested by the Local Highway Authority (LHA),  an Access Strategy/ Construction Traffic 
Management plan was provided (January 2022).  This now shows a widened access onto 
Rownall Road to accommodate heavy vehicles during construction traffic after which it is 
said the access would be used for only occasional maintenance access to the battery facility 
and access to the field.  It says that the carriageway width will be 5m with widening at the 
immediate point of access as shown on Drawing VN212155-D100. For the first 15m the 
access will be of bound surface (tarmac) before transitioning into stone filled geogrid or 
similar material. Drawing VN212155-D100 shows the proposed access and visibility splays  
 
7.10 The LHA has carefully considered the application and raise no objection on access 
grounds subject to conditions. With these in place there is compliance with relevant parts of 
DC1 and T1 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. The impact of the new access on character 
and appearance is considered separately elsewhere.  
 
Residential Amenity including consideration of noise 
7.11 There are a number of residential properties close to the application site and the 
amenity of the occupiers is a material consideration. The submitted Noise assessment (NA)  
has considered those closest to the application site; Rownall Stables (220m) , Rownall Ridge 
(165m away)  and Rownall Hall Farm (220m away). It also notes that there are commercial 
buildings within these areas and that the risk of disturbance to these must also be 
considered. 
 
7.12 The NA concludes that no adverse noise impact will be generated by the proposal with 
the mitigation proposed. It refers to the 4m high acoustic fence enclosing the entire 
compound and 3m high concrete firewalls between each line of sets. It is also says  that the 
substation transformers and associated buildings will be orientated so the transformers are 
facing north, and they will be enclosed by a concrete firewall on three sides. 
 
7.13  The Environmental Health Officer has carefully considered the application. He has 
recommended refusal of the application because the predicted night time noise levels would 
exceed current night time background noise levels and in his view this could potentially 
adversely impact on the amenity of nearby residents.  He says if the similar proposal 
SMD/2022/0047  (also on this Agenda) were to be consented  the cumulative effect would 
increase noise levels further and increase the night time exceedance.  He comments that 
this is a rural area and although the predicted noise levels are low this is against low  current 
background noise level.   
 
7.14 For these reasons there is conflict with Policy SD 4 and the NPPF which says that 
planning decisions should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts 
resulting from new development 
 
Flood risk 
7.15 The site lies within Flood zone 1 which is land at lowest risk of flooding. A Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy (FRA) has been provided as required, because the site 

Page 39



area exceeds 1 hectare. It concludes that with the proposed sustainable surface water 
drainage strategy, there will be no increase in flood risk to the site or surrounding areas. The 
strategy proposes infiltration of surface water, subject to porosity tests because the site will 
be surfaced with a permeable gravel over a secondary stone storage media. In the event 
that infiltration is not feasible, an attenuation based sustainable surface water system will be 
used with a limited Greenfield equivalent discharge to the open channel watercourse to the 
south-east 
 
 7.16 The Local Lead Flood Authority have considered the submitted FRA. They raise no 
objection to the application subject to a condition to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the submitted FRA. With this in place there is compliance with Policy 
SD5 and the NPPF.  
 
Heritage  
7.17 There are number of Listed buildings within the vicinity of the application site. However 
none will be directly affected by the proposed development. The application is accompanied 
by a Heritage Desk Based Assessment. It considers the Grade II Listed buildings of Rownall 
Farmhouse, Rownall Farm Barn, Ivy House Farmhouse  and Ivy House Barn to be 
potentially sensitive and assesses the significance of these individual buildings and their 
setting. It concludes that, in each case the proposal will not result in harm to the significance 
of the asset. In respect of the Grade II Stables to Rownall Hall it concludes  there would be 
no inter-or-co-visibility with the application site. It says that the setting elements that 
contribute towards its significance are confined to the Rownall Hall estate principally its 
associated farmstead and immediate rural backdrop. 
 
7.18 The submitted Assessment has been prepared in accordance with Historic England 
Guidance and is considered to be a proportionate assessment of designated heritage 
assessments.  No harm to heritage assets is identified and as such there is no conflict with 
Policy DC2 or the NPPF.  
 
Landscape and Visual impact  
7.19 The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Appraisal. It has been 
considered on behalf of the Council by Stuart Ryder, Landscape consultant.  
 
7.20  The submitted LIVIA concludes that without mitigation the effect on landscape 
character would be moderate/minor (adverse) and that the operational impact on visual 
receptor groups identified would range from Major/moderate (adverse)  to Moderate/minor 
(adverse). 
 
7.21 A Landscape mitigation strategy is put forward to mitigate this impact and help to 
assimilate the proposal into the landscape. It includes the following and suggests that the 
planting would take 5-10 years to establish  

 All existing hedgerows, woodland and trees within the site will be retained   

 A major new native woodland block will be planted in south-eastern part of the site 
and a new native hedgerow will be planted along the northern side of Footpath 53.  

 Sufficient space between the red line boundary and the proposed acoustic fence has 
been retained to accommodate new standard size tree planting and sections of shrub 
planting around the site perimeter  

 A new block of native buffer planting will be planted immediately east of the tree belt 
which runs through the centre of the site and new standard size trees will also be 
planted in gaps between trees in this existing tree line.  

 Existing hedgerows around the perimeter of the site will be strengthened as 
necessary with infill planting. The hedgerows will then be maintained at a minimum 
height of 4m until newly planted shrub and woodland belts have established to a 

Page 40



height of 4m. Thereafter the existing hedgerows will be cut back to 2.5m in height 
and maintained at this height. A number of hedgerow trees will be planted at an 
appropriate frequency along the existing hedgerow on the eastern boundary with 
Rownall Road to enhance diversity.  

 A new hedgerow with hedgerow trees will be planted along the southern side of the 
new access road to soften any views of it from Rownall Road and Footpath 53. This 
hedgerow will be maintained at a height of 2.5m once established.  

 The strip of land between the new access road and the field boundary will be seeded 
with a field margin wildflower seed mix to enhance biodiversity. 

 
7.22  The application site lies within open countryside outside of a settlement  boundary. In 
the Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (LSCA) it is within the landscape 
character type Ancient plateau farmlands. Key characteristics of this landscape are given to 
be:- 

 Gentle undulating landform with some steep slopes  

 Drystone walls with remains of unmanaged hedgerows and isolated trees  

 Fields often demarcated by fencing  

 Dairy farming and horse grazing  

 Small woodlands, broadleaf and conifer  
 Isolated stone farm houses and buildings converted to residential dwellings  

 Electricity power lines and substation  
 
7.23 The LSCA refers to incongruous features in this landscape including  the replacement 
of hedges by a variety of fence materials and dominant power lines and electricity substation 
 
7.24 In landscape character terms there is both connectivity with and influences of the open 
pastoral landscape to the north, east and south but also marginal influence of the Cellarhead 
sub-station to the west, with the sub-station largely separated by its eastern boundary 
planting. The overall landscape character is rural pastoral fields. The site is not considered 
to be a ‘valued landscape’ (para 174a NPPF). 
 
7.25  In terms of landscape effects, the proposals will effectively turn the western agricultural 
field site into an industrial compound. The Landscape consultant says that for the site itself 
this change can only be classified as a Major, Adverse and Permanent. The proposals are 
not considered in keeping with the wider pastoral landscape character of the Ancient Plateau 
Farmland even though there is the Cellarhead facility nearby. Any lighting required will add 
to this harm 
 
7.26 Landscape Mitigation is shown on the Landscape Mitigation Plan (Fig 6 of the LIVIA).  
The ability to create strong planting buffers is acknowledged and ultimately the woodland 
planting belt will likely screen views to the acoustic barrier wall in an estimated 6 to 8 years. 
The proposed planting belt to the south is considered narrow compared to others, 
particularly as it is positioned adjacent to Public footpath 53 which is a primary, public 
viewing spot of the proposals. The Landscape consultant advises that the landscape effect 
on the surrounding area after mitigation can be summarised as Moderate / Minor, Adverse 
and Permanent. The woodland planting in the southern field is acknowledged as a 
landscape benefit 
 
7.27  In terms of visual effects, the site is visible from Public footpath 53 to the south and 
west and from Rownall Road where existing hedge gaps exist or along the new access 
track. Of these it is walkers on Public Footpath 53 that have the longer duration and closer 
view whilst vehicle users on Rownall Road have shorter kinetic views. Footpaths 42 and 43 
fall away to the east and the proposals would not become evident to walkers until they reach 
Rownall Road. 

Page 41



 

7.28 The 4m acoustic fencing surrounding the compound would appear artificial in terms of 
material, scale, regularity and its constant height compared to other built form in the 
contextual area. It would remain visible for a minimum of 6 to 8 years until the screen 
planting established and likely longer than that in parts with any failed stock or weaker 
growth. Visibility in winter months is also anticipated for longer until the density of growth is 
such that leaf cover is no longer necessary to form an effective screen.  One effect of such 
planting is to change the appreciation of an open landscape to the west and will effectively 
screen off visual links to the north for users of Footpath 53. Likewise enclosing the 
compound with tree planting in the two other fields will visually separate the site and views 
across it to the east and the wider Churnet Valley. They will only be re-established when 
visual receptors reach Rownall Road. 
 
7.29The Landscape consultant assess the visual effects as Major / Moderate, Adverse and 
Temporary in the first instance until the mitigation planting has established when it will 
decrease to Minor, Adverse and Permanent. In summary the initial effects of forming the 
acoustic wall will be highly notable until the mitigation planting establishes and even with this 
planting there will still be adverse effects with long views truncated by it. 
 
7.30 It is also necessary to consider cumulative effect. There are two sets of compound 
effects to be considered in this case, firstly with the existing Cellarhead sub-station, and 
secondly with a similar development proposed under SMD/2022/0047 and considered 
elsewhere on this Agenda. 
 
7.31This proposal will appear as separate from the main part of the Cellarhead sub-station 
but there is sufficient power infrastructure in the intervening field that the overall visual effect 
would be appear to be associated with it, particularly if equipment such as  lighting or 
telemetry masts appear above the acoustic fence and associated planting. This is due to it 
being experienced in proximity to Cellarhead as people move through this landscape. 
Should SMD/2022/0047 be consented and built out this site would become the eastern block 
of three and the easterly spread of power infrastructure would be greater and more readily 
perceived from Rownall Road until mitigation planting is established.  SMD/2022/0047 also 
proposes an enclosure of 4m acoustic fencing facing east which could present a series of 
artificial straight lines set on a local ridge making them appear more prominent and being 
perceived with the pylons that stand higher than them. 
 
7.32 Policy DC3 says that the Council will protect and where possible enhance local 
landscape by amongst other matters, resisting development which would lead to a prominent 
intrusion into the countryside; support development which respects and enhances local 
landscape character; support opportunities to positively manage the  landscape and use 
sustainable building techniques and materials sympathetic to the area and conserve or 
enhance biodiversity. 
 
7.33 In this particular case, the conclusion reached  for the reasons above and 
notwithstanding the biodiversity net gain (see discussion elsewhere) and the positive 
management of the mitigation planting,  is that the proposal does not respect or enhance 
local landscape  character and it would lead to a prominent intrusion into the countryside.  
The materials and building form are clearly not sympathetic to the area 
 
7.34 For these reasons there is conflict with Policy DC3 and the NPPF which says that 
planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
amongst other matters recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside 
 
Biodiversity  

Page 42



7.35  The application is accompanied by an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and 
Biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA).   The Survey notes the majority of the site (two upper 
fields)  to be cultivated arable land with narrow field margins supporting common ruderal and 
perennial specioes. Boundaries are defined by sparse hedgerows with trees. A partial 
hedgerow separates the two upper fields. The south-eastern field comprises semi-improved 
grassland which is not species rich and this grazing land is being proposed for tree planting 
 
7.36 The Habitat survey advises that there is an opportunity to provide a ‘net gain’ in 
biodiversity by habitat creation. The small field of semi-improved grassland on the south-
eastern edge of the survey area is proposed for tree planting to create a new woodland 
habitat and it says this should have a range of native tree and shrub species within the mix. 
Within this new woodland area it says that it would be possible to incorporate the following 
features: 
- Bat boxes and bird boxes 
.-Refugia suitable for hedgehogs  
- a wetland / soakaway area  
-Invertebrate habitat such as deadwood piles, bare ground and rock piles  
 
7.37 The updated BIA (11th March 2022) which is based on the Landscape Mitigation Plan 
(Figure 6 of the LIVIA) shows a gain of biodiversity units of 10.59 units (over 90% increase) 
and an increase in hedgerow biodiversity units of 1.11.  
 
7.38  Staffordshire Wildlife Trust has reviewed the application on behalf of the Council. They 
initially raised a holding objection but have now lifted this  following receipt of the updated 
BNG assessment. They raise no objection subject to conditions and with these in place there 
is compliance with Policy NE 1 and the NPPF  
 
Mineral Safeguarding  
7.39  Staffs CC confirm that the entire site falls within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSA) 
for Bedrock Sand, as defined in the Minerals Local Plan for Staffordshire (2015 – 2030). In 
addition, a small part of the eastern end of the site also lies within the MSA for Silica Sand, 
and the eastern tip is also within the MSA for Shallow Coal and Fireclay. However they 
advise that the development is temporary, with the expectation that the battery packs, switch 
gear etc. would be removed at some point in the future. Only the concrete plinths would be 
fixed, and these too would be removed when the facility was decommissioned. They would 
not be of sufficient depth to affect any underlying minerals. On this basis they raise no 
objection to the application on mineral safeguarding grounds  
 
Tree protection 
7.40  All trees and hedgerows are retained and can be suitably protected during construction 
to ensure no conflict with Policy NE2 
 
Green Belt Balance and conclusion  
7.41 By law this application must be determined in accordance with the Development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development has been found to 
conflict with Polices SS10, DC3, SD4. It does not comply with Development plan.  
 
7.42 The applicant has put forward a number of consideration which he considers amount to  
very special circumstances in this case. They are set out in detail in the application. A 
summary is provided at Para 5.7.35 of the Planning Statement and in a letter from Surface 
planning dated 30th May 2022 as follows:  
 
a)The essential need for the proposals - National Grid balancing requirements; 

Page 43



b)The sustainability benefits – renewable supply equivalent to the annual consumption of 
approximately 1,918,281 homes, or 43 years of current domestic demand in Staffordshire 
Moorlands; 
c)The electricity grid security benefits – helping to prevent the risk of blackouts due to 
shortfalls in supply compared to demand; 
d)The essential need for the application site – Cellarhead GSP provides the only suitable 
and available connection within 60km of the application site; 
e)The co-location benefits – the location in close proximity to Cellarhead GSP helps to 
secure the viability of the scheme and reduces overall landscape impact; 
f)The national security benefits – the scheme will improve the security and resilience of the 
UK electricity grid during a period of uncertainty around availability and cost in the global 
energy market; and 
g)The biodiversity benefits – the development will deliver approximately 90% biodiversity net 
gain through the creation of new woodland habitat. 
 
Green Belt harm  
7.43 The proposal has been found to be inappropriate  development in the Green Belt which 
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. Furthermore, the proposal would significantly  
reduce openness by replacing open fields with a battery storage compound.  The 
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness and 
permanence. The proposal would also conflict with one of the main purposes of including 
land within the Green Belt namely that of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  
The totality of the Green Belt harm is very significant and substantial weight must be given to 
this harm  (para 148) .  
 
Other harm  
7.44In addition to this Green Belt harm,  there would be significant   harm to the character 
and appearance of the area and conflict with Policy DC3 and the NPPF as set out above. 
The construction of an industrial compound in this rural pastoral landscape would lead to an 
adverse and harmful landscape and visual change. The proposal would be visually intrusive 
particularly from Footpath 53 and Rownall Road. Significant weight is given to this landscape 
and visual harm 
 
7.45 There would also be harm to residential amenity and conflict with Policy SD4 as a result 
of predicted night time noise levels exceeding existing night-time background noise levels.  
Moderate weight is given to this harm 
 
Benefits – ‘Other considerations’ 
7.46 In terms of the considerations put forward by the applicant, the need for battery storage 
nationally as a means to assist in balancing the Grid is accepted. The proposal would help 
contribute to meeting this need and this is a positive benefit of the scheme. Although not 
generating renewable energy in its own right batter storage does have an important role to 
play in providing greater capacity and flexibility in the electricity network. It supports the 
move towards low carbon energy increasingly supplied by renewable energy which is a more 
variable  supply as it is weather dependent. Para 152 of the NPPF says that the planning 
system should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. The 
proposal would also contribute towards the government’s net zero target by 2050 and the 
Council  declared  climate emergency (10th July 2019) and its commitment to making the 
Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030. Significant  weight is given to the 
contribution the proposal would make to supporting renewable and low carbon energy and 
addressing climate change 
 
7.47  The applicant does have a connection agreement with National Grid. However there is 
no evidence that the need for storage can only be met on this particular site and this limits 

Page 44



the weight that can be given to the applicants claim that there is an essential need for the 
application site.  Members will be aware for example that the Council has three other 
applications for battery storage facilities in the District currently pending consideration (one is 
elsewhere on this Agenda).  
 
7.48 The proposal would deliver a net gain in biodiversity, as required by Policy NE2 and the 
NPPF. However in this case the gain is significant (circa 90%) albeit largely due to the 
extensive planting required to try to mitigate the adverse landscape and visual impact. 
Nevertheless it attracts moderate weight in the overall balance.  
 
7.49 Finally the applicant says that a benefit is ‘..renewable supply equivalent to the annual 
consumption of approximately 1,918,281 homes, or 43 years of current domestic demand in 
Staffordshire Moorlands’. However Members are reminded that battery storage facilities do 
not in themselves   generate electricity be that renewable or other sources. They provide a 
balancing mechanism drawing electricity from the grid when levels on the Network are above 
that of demand and feeding electricity stored in the batteries back into the network to meet 
demand when required. Accordingly little or no weight is given to this. 
 
Conclusion  
7.50 Policy SS10 and the Framework states that very special circumstances will not exist 
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. For the 
reasons above in this case the harm to the Green belt to which substantial weight must be 
given, the landscape and visual harm and the potential noise impacts  are not clearly 
outweighed by the other considerations. A recommendation of refusal is therefore made 
 
 

8. RECOMMENDATION 
A         That planning permission be refused for the following reasons:-  
 

1. This site consists of agricultural land. It is greenfield and lies within the Green 
Belt. The proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
which is harmful by definition. The development would, in addition 
significantly compromise openness by replacing open fields with a 
development of industrial character and appearance. Openness and 
permanence are, the NPPF confirms, the essential characteristics of the Green 
Belt. The fundamental aim of Green belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open. Furthermore there would be conflict with one 
of the main purposes of including land within the Green Belt namely that of 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The totality of the Green 
Belt harm is significant and Local Planning Authorities are required to give 
substantial weight to any harm to the Green Belt. It is not considered that the 
other considerations put forward by the applicant amount to the very special 
circumstances to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm. 
It is for these reasons that the proposal is contrary to Policy SS10 of the 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and advice in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

2. The site lies outside a settlement boundary in the open countryside. It is within 
the Landscape character type of Ancient plateau farmland.  The overall 
landscape character is of rural pastoral fields with marginal influence of the 
existing Cellarhead substation to the east. It is considered that introducing 
what is effectively an industrial compound into this landscape would result in 
significant harmful landscape and visual change. It would neither respect nor 
enhance local landscape character. The site is visible from Rownall Road to 

Page 45



the west  and Footpath 53 to the south and west. From these public routes 
views of the development would be readily available until the extensive 
planting put forward has begun to provide any effective screening which could 
take many years.  The widened and new access from Rownall Road to serve 
the development would also add to the harm. For these reasons the proposal 
does neither protects or enhance local landscape character and it would lead 
to a prominent intrusion into the countryside. It would result in significant 
harm to the character and appearance of the area. For these reasons there is 
conflict with Policy DC3 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and the 
NPPF which says that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by amongst other matters recognising the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. 
 

3. There are a number of residential properties close to the site. The predicted 
night time noise levels set out in the submitted Noise Assessment would 
exceed current night time background noise levels in this rural area. It is 
considered that this would   potentially adversely impact on the amenity of 
nearby residents in conflict with Policy SD4 of the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Local Plan and advice in the NPPF 

  

  
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 

decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 

 

 
 
 

Page 46



 
 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
16th June 2022 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0784 

Location Land east of Sugar Street, Rushton Spencer, SK11 0RN 

Proposal Full planning application for erection of four dwellings.  

Applicant Mr Rider, Rider Enterprises Ltd 

Agent Rob Duncan Planning Consultancy Ltd  

Parish/ward Rushton Spencer Date registered: 30.11.2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Chris Johnston tel: 01538 

395400 ext. 4123 christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 

 
The application is before committee at the request of Cllr Hawkins due to local 

concerns over drainage/flooding, highway safety, parking, overdevelopment, visual 
impact, privacy and the lack of adequate public transport. 
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 
 

APPROVE WITH CONDITIONS 
 

  
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

 

2.1  The site lies on the eastern edge of the small village of Rushton Spencer and 
comprises a small field/paddock (with an area of 0.42 hectares) on the east side of 
Sugar Street, a “C” classified lane close to the junction of A523 (Macclesfield Road) 

and Leek Old Road and which runs through the village heading north, past the 
primary school and chapel and which then heads east through the countryside 

towards the village/hamlet of Heaton.  The site is opposite the Royal Oak pub (a 
traditional stone building), its rear car park and an adjacent row of three old stone 
terraced dwellings which face the lane.   The north side boundary of the site is 

flanked by Alley Lane (which joins onto Sugar Street), a narrow lane leading to 
houses including one directly to the rear (east) of the site, a large detached 

bungalow and also one to the other side of Abbey Lane to the north of it, which faces 
the site.  There is also an old two-storey dwelling to the north of the site next to the 
junction of Alley Lane and Sugar Street with its side wall facing Alley Lane and the 

site.   There is also another bungalow to the south side of the site which faces the 
junction of Sugar Street and Leek Old Road.  The land rises quite steeply upwards 

from the lane towards the east with the bungalows to the rear and north side 
elevated above the site and which look down onto it.   The site boundaries are 
marked by low hedgerows although there is also a section of a low drystone wall 

along the front( (roadside) boundary and a field gate.  There are no trees within the 
site other than a cluster of large trees next to the south side boundary close to the 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

mailto:christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


top of the site.  The site is not affected by any land designations.  It is not within a 
development boundary, the Green Belt or a Conservation Area and there are no 

nearby listed buildings.  The site is not allocated for development in the Local Plan.    
  

3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

 
3.1 This is a full planning application for 4no 3-bed two-storey terraced dwellings with 

a traditional stone cottage form and design and placed along the Sugar Street 
frontage in the southern half of the site, directly opposite the pub car park.  These 

would be private market dwellings.  Immediately to the north of the row of dwellings, 
a new access would be created onto a private shared driveway bending around the 
back of the houses to private parking spaces for each dwelling, backing onto 

proposed rear patio gardens for each dwelling. The drive would be flanked by a 
grass verge and stone boundary wall, separating the development from the rest of 

the field.  There would be two parking spaces for each property.  There would be 
some ground extraction involved to level off the drive, due to the sloping land and a 
turning head would be created at the end, bordered by a stone retaining wall.  To the 

front of the dwellings would be a small paved gap, then a new stone wall separated 
by low timber pedestrian gates in front of the front doors to each house.  To the front 

of the wall and gates would be a footway next to the lane, spanning the whole 
development frontage up to the new access.  To the other side of the access, the 
remainder of the site frontage would comprise a narrow grass verge with stone 

boundary wall and hedge behind it.  There would be small clusters of new tree 
planting around the remaining field which would be used as an open vegetation and 

grass meadow with ecological and habitat enhancements.  The existing group of 
trees next to the south side boundary are shown to be retained along with the 
existing side boundary hedgerows. 

 
3.2 The building materials would include, for the walls, “locally sourced, randomly 

coursed natural sand stone with eaves and verge corbelled detailing”, Staffs Blue 
clay roofing tiles, powder coated aluminium rainwater goods (colour not specified) 
and timber window frames and doors (colours not specified).  Hard-surfacing 

materials would include permeable tegular paving blocks for the access road and 
private drive and permeable paving blocks for the footways contrasting with the 

access road.  The colours are not specified.  
 
3.3  The dwellings will include sustainability and energy efficiency features including 

electric car charge points, air source heat pumps and solar electric roof panels.  
There will be rainwater harvesting from the roofs to be used for garden watering and 

if treated for use in toilets and washing machines. 
 
3.4 The proposed tree planting would comprise small copse woodland and orchard 

fruit trees. 
 

3.5 This is an amended scheme which differs with the original submitted scheme for 
a small cul-de-sac type development with three split-level dwellings set further back 
from the lane and with their backs facing it and much larger detached two-storey 

dwelling placed near the top of the slope to the other side of the cul-de-sac and 
placed perpendicular to the other dwellings, facing the north side boundary.  The 

original scheme also proposed a small car park to the north of the cul-de-sac, 

Page 50



directly opposite the existing terraced dwellings on Sugar Street, intended to provide 
off-road parking for the existing residents.   The car park has been removed from the 

scheme.  
 

3.6  The amended scheme also includes an indicative drainage plan which shows a 
sewage treatment plant (underground) and soakaway dispersion field, both of which 
would be placed to the north of the access where the former proposed car park was 

to be placed.  The plan also shows the routes of proposed surface water and foul 
drains with inspection chambers.   

 
3.7 The application was accompanied by a Planning Statement, Design and Access 
Statement, Preliminary Ecological Assessment report, Energy and Sustainability 

Statement and Arboricultural Report.  A Biodiversity Impact Assessment report was 
received on 31.5.22. 

                            
3.8   The application files including the drawings and details of the proposal together 
with consultation responses can be viewed on the Council website at: 

 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?

PKID=155484 
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

None. 
 
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 

5.1  The Development Plan comprises: 
 
Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan - Sep 2020 

 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application:- 

 
 SS1 Development Principles 
 SS9 Small Villages Strategy 

 H1   New Housing Development 
 DC1 Design Considerations  

 DC3  Landscape and Settlement Setting 
 T1  Development and Sustainable Transport 
 NE1   Biodiversity and Geological Resources 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).- July 2021 

 
Para 11:  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Section 5:  Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 

Section 12:  Achieving Well Designed Places 
Section 15:  Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

 

Page 51

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=155484
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=155484


 
6. CONSULTATIONS 

 
6.1    A site notice was posted and displayed outside of the site on 9th December 

2021.    Letters were also sent out to adjacent properties shortly after the application 
was received and 21 days was given for comments in response.  On the receipt of 
amended plans on 26.4.22, adjacent properties and senders of representations in 

response to the original application were notified and given 14 days in which to 
comment. 

 
Public response to consultation 

 

6.2 In response to the original submission, letters of objection were received from 
four local residents and the following points were raised: 

 

 The proposal will exacerbate local flooding problems affecting nearby roads, 
the drainage plans are unclear and no details of impacts on the local water 

courses including a stream near the south boundary 

 There is no demand for additional housing in the village 

 There is inadequate facilities in the village to support new housing 

 Harm to highway safety as Sugar Street is narrow and has no footway and the 

junction at A523 is difficult and no improvements to it have been made plus 
any new access onto Sugar Street would be unsafe and Alley Lane is on blind 
junction 

 Further ecological assessment is needed as the site is well used by wildlife 

 Harm to appearance of the area as houses excessively high and built on 

higher ground 

 Harm to privacy of existing Sugar Street dwellings and the dwelling to the rear 

of the site 

 Proposed lighting on the access road would be out of keeping with the 

character of the area and harm wildlife and public health 
 

6.3 Letters from two further local residents were received neither supporting or 

objecting but raising the following concerns: 
  

 The proposal will significantly increase traffic on unsuitable roads and parking 
provision is inadequate 

 Conditions should be applied to ensure materials and landscaping is in 

keeping with the area 

 Increased surface water run-off exacerbating existing flooding problems 

 
6.4  In response to the amended plans, objections were received from one local 

resident who objected to the original plans.  The points raised are as follows: 
 

 Reduction in parking provision will cause further highway safety problems 

 The amended plans do not address the drainage issues 
 

Rushton Spencer Parish Council 
 

Page 52



6.5 In response to the original plans the PC objected to the application on the  
grounds of drainage/flooding problems, harm to highway safety, parking problems, 

overdevelopment, harm to character and appearance of area, harm to privacy of  
adjacent residents and the lack of adequate public transport in the village.   

 
6.6  The response from the PC to the amended plans will be reported at the 

Committee 

meeting.  
 
SCC Highway Authority 
 

6.7 In response to the original plans, an objection was raised due to inadequate 

parking for two of the dwellings and also lack of detail for the visibility splays and lack 
of detail of the proposed pedestrian links onto Sugar Street. 

 
6.8  In response to the amended plans, SCC Highways removed its objection 
providing conditions were added relating to visibility splays, the provision of the 

access, parking and turning areas before occupation of the dwelling, the provision of 
a surface water drainage interceptor and details of dropped crossings onto Sugar 

Street for pedestrians.   
 
6.9  SCC Highways commented as follows: 

 
“Visibility splays are now dimensioned. Splay to the west is measured incorrectly in 

that visibility should be measured to the near kerbline, not the opposite kerbline. 
However, visibility is to be provided as far as the Alley Lane junction, the limit of land 
ownership. Pedestrian dropped crossings are now not shown. Dropped kerbs should 

be provided on Sugar Street frontage at each plot to improve access for pushchairs 
etc. Bellmouth will require technical approval as part of the works agreement 

process. Pedestrian access will be considered in the detail at that stage. Footway 
shown on drawing 2127 AL06 A is not dimensioned but scales at approx 1m wide. 
This does not 

meet highway standards and should be considered more as providing a refuge for 
pedestrians to leave the front of their property and stand safely before entering the 

carriageway.  Off-site highway improvements were to be provided under approval for 
the site opposite 12/00364 (SMD/2012/0155) for 9 dwellings which was approved at 
appeal. Inspector commented at para 52 that the requirement for these was disputed 

but that on balance, they should be provided. As this proposal is for 4 dwellings, off 
site highway improvements would be unlikely to be required related to the scale of 

the 
development. Work on the site opposite has commenced but at the time of my site 
visit appeared to have stopped. Current records show that there were no Personal 

Injury Collisions on Sugar Street within 50m either side of the site access or at the 
Sugar Street/Leek Old Road junction in the previous five years.”  
 
Environmental Health 

 

6.10  In response to the original scheme, no objection was raised and standard 
conditions were recommended relating to a Construction and Environment 

Management Plan (CEMP), unexpected contamination, imported soils, external 

Page 53



lighting and air source heat pump noise. 
 

6.11   No additional comments were given in response to the amended plans. 
 
SCC Local Flood Authority 

 
6.12   “As non-statutory consultees of applications of this size we have no comments 

to make.” 
 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust (SWT) 
 

6.13  A holding objection was initially raised as information on ecological impact was 

deemed to be insufficient.  SWT requested a Biodiversity Impact Assessment to 
evidence a biodiversity net gain, more information on site hydrology and proposed 

drainage and an amended drainage scheme to include sustainable drainage and 
habitat enhancements. 
 

6.14  The comments of SWT are as follows: 
 

“Due to the limited scale of the development no impacts to nearby sites are 
anticipated, providing adequate drainage infrastructure is implemented. The site 
forms part of the local ecological network linking nearby wildlife sites and other 

grassland habitats. The grassland has some diversity, but does not appear to meet 
local Wildlife Site criteria. 

It is not clear whether the proposals would achieve a Net Biodiversity Gain (NBG) 

due to the amount of semi-improved lowland meadow to be lost. Therefore, a 
Biodiversity Impact Assessment is required. 

With regard to drainage, the indicative drainage plan shows permeable surfaces and 
proposed locations for a sewage treatment plant and a rainwater harvesting tank.  

However, no further details are provided. Due to surface water flooding issues 
reported by residents, the presence of a natural spring and possible channels 

connecting off the site, further information on site hydrology and proposed drainage 
feasibility are required. As well as avoiding downstream impacts, a more natural 
design following SuDS principles would also create additional habitat.  

With regard to particular species, no harm would result providing conditions are put 
in place to ensure the protection/mitigation measures outlined in the Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment Report are undertaken.  It is advised that species 

enhancements for bats, birds, hedgehogs, invertebrates, and reptiles are shown on 
an updated landscaping plan.”  

 

6.15  In response to the amended scheme and submitted Biodiversity Impact 

Assessment (BIA) report, SWT raised no objections subject to conditions to provide 
further species enhancements in the landscaping scheme, a long term habitat 
management plan, further drainage details, a reptile protection method statement 

and for the protection/mitigation measures outlined in the ecology reports to be 
undertaken.    SWT commented as follows: 

“The amended plans retain more grassland and this would appear to be sufficient to 

Page 54



provide a net gain, as long as all areas of grassland area enhanced with locally 
sourced seed. 

A habitat management plan will be required to secure net gain habitats for a 

minimum of 30 years.  As per our previous comments, details of species 
enhancements will need to be submitted via further plans which may be conditioned.  

 
The indicative drainage plan appears to be suitable from an ecological perspective.  . 
Additional surface features such as a lined reedbed or swale could be considered at 

the lower end of the site as part of a detailed drainage plan.  In order for the 
permeable landscaped areas to absorb some run-off, they would need to be flush 

with the hard surfacing without a curb, or permeable curb materials used. 
Underground geocellular storage could be considered to provide more storage and 
filtration. Water butts should also be provided on each home.” 

 
Environment Agency (EA) 

6.16 No objection subject to two conditions requiring full details of the surface water 

and foul drainage schemes to be submitted for approval before works commence.  
The EA commented as follows: 

“Published geological maps show that the site lies above the Chester Formation 

Principal Aquifer. The site lies within Groundwater Source Protection Zones 2 and 
zone 3 for a nearby public water supply abstraction.  The site is also within a 
groundwater safeguard zone. These designations highlight both the importance of 

the groundwater source in this location, and its vulnerability to pollution. It is 
therefore essential to ensure that any discharges to ground of foul and surface water 

is carried out in such a manner as to limit the potential for pollution of groundwater. 
 
The proposed development will be served by a private sewage treatment plant and 

drainage field. The information submitted in support of this application has 
demonstrated that it is not possible to connect to a mains sewer network and that 

appropriate mitigation measures can be employed to ensure that the risk to 
controlled waters are minimised.” 
  

United Utilities (UU) 

6.17  In response to the original submission, UU commented as follows: 

 
“The site directly overlies the sandstone rock, mainly within a Groundwater Source 

Protection Zone (SPZ) 2, overlapping onto SPZ 3. This forms a recharge zone for 
the aquifer, abstracted at depth by United Utilities for local public drinking water 
supply at nearby Rushton Spencer boreholes. The applicant should follow best 

practise on their use and storage of fuels, oils and chemicals, to remove the risk of 
causing pollution during construction.” 

 
“The site maybe particularly vulnerable to the presence of contamination, due to the 
presence of an historic abstraction borehole (SJ96SW2 / SJ96/23). If present and 

not decommissioned, this could provide a direct connection to the groundwater table 
at depth.” 

  

Page 55



“There is a record of a discharge from an existing off-site private wastewater system 
onto site, along the western, Sugar Lane boundary. We seek further information 

regarding: 
-If this drainage is a wastewater overflow or treated effluent; 

-Whether the flow drains to ground on-site or enters surfacewater courses (the 
canal), via road drainage; 
-Evidence to demonstrate the flow does not pose an additional contamination risk to 

the development site; and, 
-An assessment of the potential contamination risk to groundwater at depth.” 

 
“The proposed gravel surface of the shared car parking and the permeable paving to 
the properties does not meet this standard, without treatment of pollutants in run-off.” 

 
“We strongly recommend that no construction commences until the detailed drainage 

design, has been assessed and accepted in writing by United Utilities.” 
 

6.18  The comments of UU in response to the amended plans including amended 
drainage strategy will be reported at the Committee meeting. 

 
SMDC Waste Collection Service 
 

6.19  No issues regarding waste collections. 
 

 
7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 

 

Introduction 
 
7.1  Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021) 

promotes a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. For decision takers 
this means:  

(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or  

(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 

which are more important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
granting permission, unless:  

i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or  

ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in the Framework taken as a whole.  
 
7.2  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF (2021) identifies three dimensions to sustainable 

development as being economic, social and environmental. In accordance with 
policies SS1 and 1a of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan, the Council will 

expect all new development to make a positive contribution towards the sustainability 

Page 56



of communities and to protecting, and where possible, enhancing the environment. 
When considering development proposals, the Council will take a positive approach 

that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
NPPF (2021).  

 
7.3 The main issues with the proposal are as follows: 
 

 The principle of the development in this location and whether or not the 
scheme amounts to a sustainable housing development 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the area  

 The impact on the residential amenities of existing dwellings in the area and 

the future residents of the dwellings 

 The impact on highway safety 

 The impact on the ecological value of the site 

 The impact on drainage and flood risk 

 The impact of the proposal on ground contamination levels and water quality 

 
The principle of the development 

 
7.4 Rushton Spencer is classed as a “small village” for the purposes of the Local 

Plan.  The adoption of the Local Plan in September 2020 set out the strategy for new 
housing for the plan period, up to 2033 and included new allocations of land and a 
focus for other new housing development on the towns and larger villages.  

However, an element of limited new housing including in small infill sites, is part of 
that strategy, as outlined in the Small Villages Strategy, Policy SS9.   However, 

recently, the demonstrated supply of housing land for the District fell to 4.2 years and 
in accordance with the NPPF, a housing land supply of less than five years triggers 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF, which as stated above in this report, requires the 

granting of permission of sustainable development proposals unless, under para 11 
d(ii), “any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken 
as a whole.”    
 

7.5  With regard to the Local Plan, Policy SS9 allows limited new housing in the 
small villages in accordance with Policy H1, ‘New Housing Development’.  For the 
small villages, this allows new housing where it is: 

 
“well related to the existing pattern of development of a smaller village and will not 

create or extend ribbon development or lead to sporadic pattern of development; 
and, in all cases the development will not lead to a prominent intrusion into the 
countryside or have a significant adverse impact on the character and appearance of 

the  countryside.” 
 

7.6  Whilst the requirements of Local Plan policies such as SS9 and H1 are still 
material planning considerations, due to the housing land supply shortfall, those 
policies are now undermined by the requirements of Para 11 of the NPPF which 

gives great weight to allowing sustainable new housing unless this would lead to 
adverse impacts considered to outweigh the benefits of, in this case, the provision of 

four new 3-bed dwellings on the edge of the village.  This is the key consideration in 
determining the principle of this proposal. 

Page 57



 
7.7. With regard to whether or not the location is sustainable, there are some 

services in the village which can be safely and easily reached by foot which would 
reduce the need to travel by car.  There is a primary school approx. 100 metres 

away from the proposed houses on the opposite side of Sugar Street, there is a pub 
directly opposite the site, a chapel further along Sugar Street and bus stops on 
Macclesfield Road, although the service is rather infrequent with one bus approx. 

every 90 minutes.  There is a footway opposite the site, outside the pub, leading to 
Macclesfield Road.  There is no footway on Sugar Street connecting the site to the 

school and chapel but as the lane is fairly narrow, vehicle speeds are not high and 
the local highways authority do not consider it dangerous to walk along.  Overall, 
although an increased number of vehicle movements would be expected, mainly to 

reach food shops and workplaces, it is not considered the site is in a significantly 
unsustainable location and is suitable for a small number of houses. 

 
7.8 A recent application for nine new houses in the village, off Macclesfield Road 
was refused and an appeal against the refusal was dismissed earlier this year (ref:  

SMD/2020/0201).  However, the reason for this was the harm to the character and 
appearance of the village rather than it being an unsustainable location for new 

housing. 
 
7.9 Overall, in terms of the proposal, the principle of four new houses on the site is 

considered acceptable unless there are any adverse impacts identified and the rest 
of this report will assess this. 

 
The impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 

7.10 The site comprises a field and is next to a lane flanked with stone walls, and 
hedgerows which gives the area a rural character often found on edge of village 

locations.  However, there are buildings directly on the opposite side of the site and 
dwellings to the north and south sides and also bungalows directly to the rear at the 
top of the slope and on the opposite side of Alley Lane which are very visible from 

Sugar Street.  Although there is a significant green gap between the bungalow to the 
rear and to the south sides of the site, largely occupied by trees, it is not considered 

the row of four houses at the bottom of the slope directly fronting Sugar Street would 
lead to a prominent intrusion into the countryside or have a significant adverse 
impact on the character and appearance of the  countryside, in conflict with Policy 

H1.  There are views of the green site when heading south-east along Macclesfield 
Road before reaching the bend, as the slope faces north-west but the bungalow at 

the top above the site is also very prominent.  From this direction, the dwellings, 
placed at the bottom of the slope on the south part of the site, would be largely 
obscured by the presence of the pub.  The site is not prominent when heading north 

along either Macclesfield Road or Leek Old Road as views of the site are blocked by 
buildings and trees.  When heading south along Sugar Street, the new houses will 

be immediately evident but the existing terraced dwellings and the pub will also be 
noticeable.   
 

7.11  It could be argued that the row of four houses could “create ribbon 
development” contrary to Policy H1.  However, this is not considered to be out of 

keeping with the village as a whole.  There is a row of traditional terraced cottages of 

Page 58



similar form opposite the site and despite the recent appeal dismissal on 
Macclesfield Road, the Inspector considered that part of the proposal, comprising a 

row of four dwellings fronting Macclesfield Road, was not harmful to village 
character, with the actual harm resting with the separate cul-de-sac development 

applied for under the same application dismissed at appeal.  Due to para 11 of the 
NPPF taking precedent in the determination of the scheme, the test if whether the 
form of development would lead to significant adverse impacts rather than whether 

or not the proposal complies with Policy H1.  Although due to the “ribbon 
development” form of the proposed development it could be argued there is some 

conflict with Policy H1, it is not considered to amount to an adverse impact  which 
outweighs the benefits of providing four new dwellings on the site.   
 

7.12 The level of harm is also reduced by the rural traditional cottage design of the 
dwellings which includes the side gable roof form, appropriate local stone materials 

and features such as chimneys and porches with front gables, considered to be in 
keeping with village character.    A significant amount of green space would still be 
retained and would maintain a meadow character and hedgerows and existing stone 

walls would be retained.  The parking areas would be hidden behind the houses and 
although some extraction is required for the access and turning head, this would be 

flanked with stone retaining walls and would in any case be obscured by the row of 
houses.  Although a section of hedgerow would be removed, this would be replaced 
by a new stone front boundary wall although there is sufficient space to replace the 

hedge slightly further back and a condition can be added requiring exact details of 
the boundary treatments for the frontage.     

 
7.13 Overall, although the proposal would erode part of a field which contributes 
positively to village setting and the street scene of Sugar Street, the site does not 

give the impression as being within the open countryside outside of the built confines 
of the village, due to the presence of surrounding buildings.  The proposed form and 

design of development is in keeping with the character and appearance of the 
village.  It is not considered the proposal would lead to significant harm arising from 
the impact on the visual amenities of the area. 

 
The impact on residential amenity 

 
7.14 The proposed row of dwellings would be opposite a pub car park and not the 
existing row of terraced dwellings next to it and views directly in front of the front 

windows of those houses would be unaffected and the proposed houses would only 
be visible from an obscure angle from the front primary windows.  The separation 

distances between the proposed dwellings and the bungalows to the rear and north 
side would be in excess of the standards in the Council’s Space About Dwellings 
design guidance.   With regard to the bungalow to the south, there is a secondary 

ground floor window facing the site.  The main windows at the front would be 
unaffected as there would be no significant infringement of the 45 degree lines 

measured from primary windows in accordance with the design guidance.  
Therefore, the proposal would not lead to any significant light loss or privacy loss 
affecting the residential amenities and living conditions of the existing residents of 

the area. 
 

7.15 With regard to the future occupants of the site, the private outdoor garden/patio 

Page 59



spaces for each unit, albeit small, would still be in excess of the recommended 65 
sq.m for space around the house in the Council’s design guidance.  The new 

residents would also have access to the significant green space still maintained on 
site to compensate for the lack of any real soft planted or grass areas.  In terms of 

internal space, each units would have approx. 110 sq.m which is well in excess of 
the 93 sq.m required for two-storey 3-bed houses with two double bedrooms.   
 

7.16 Overall, it is considered there would be no adverse impacts  in relation to the 
effect of the proposal on the residential amenities of the existing residents or future 

occupants of the site.  
 
The impact on highway safety 

 
7.17 Although the lane is narrow, it is largely wide enough for two cars to pass, 

especially close to the junction with the main road.  The design of the access, which 
has been amended, is acceptable and would allow an adequate level of visibility for 
drivers leaving onto Sugar Street.  The traffic generated by four additional houses in 

this location would not lead to any significant highway safety problems and visibility 
at the main road junction is adequate.  With regard to pedestrian safety, a footway of 

1.0m would be provided along the frontage of the houses and although this is 
substandard for a footway, it would still amount to an improvement.  The footway 
does not continue to the north of the access due to the land banking, but it is a very 

short section of straight road with a 30mph speed limit between the proposed access 
and the school.  Overall, due to the nature of the lane and the design of the access 

road and path, the local highways authority does not consider the proposal would be 
detrimental to highway safety. 
 
The impact on the ecological value of the site 

 

7.18 The site is not considered to have a high biodiversity value and once further 
ecological assessment information was received from the applicant, Staffs Wildlife 
Trust were satisfied no significant harm would result from the proposal and this 

includes the impacts from the drainage strategy.   However, Policy NE1 encourages 
a “Net Biodiversity Gain” from all proposals and SWT consider there is potential to 

achieve this through enhancements and additional landscaping in the retained 
meadow grassland area and through a Habitat Management Plan to secure net gain 
habitats for a minimum of 30 years.  As the ecological value of the site is low and 

there is significant potential to improve it, the Management Plan and other measures 
outlines can all be achieved via planning conditions.   

 
The drainage strategy and the impact on flood risk   

     

7.19 The site is not in a flood plain (i.e. Flood Zones 2 and 3, the highest zones of 
flooding) but lies above an aquifer and is within Groundwater Source Protection 

Zones 2 and zone 3 for a nearby public water supply abstraction.  The site is also 
within a groundwater safeguard zone.  Due to the applicant demonstrating it is not 
possible to connect the development to mains drainage, a drainage field to the north 

of the access (fed by pipes from each unit) is proposed to deal with surface water 
drainage and a package treatment plant to deal with foul drainage. Furthermore all 

hard surfaces will be permeable to minimise run-off causing potential flooding.  

Page 60



Although the measures and strategy  could lead to a potential impact on the aquifer 
and safeguarded groundwater, as it would lead to drainage into the ground, in terms 

of flood risk and drainage, the method of drainage is considered acceptable and 
would not exacerbate flooding from local watercourses (which are to the other side of 

the site from where the drainage field and package treatment plant is to be located.  
The Environment Agency has raised no objection to this but with the safeguard of 
conditions requiring further details of the design of the drainage strategy.  The local 

highways authority has also asked for a drainage interceptor to prevent surface 
water run-off onto Sugar Lane in the interests of highway safety.  This can also be 

achieved by way of a planning condition. 
 
The impact of the proposal on ground contamination levels and water quality 

 
7.20 Due to the aquifer and the groundwater protection zones covering the site, 

which provide a source of local public water, via boreholes in and around the site,  it 
needs to be ensured that no harm occurs to these as a result of the development 
and the method of foul and surface water drainage.   There is a record of a discharge 

from an existing off-site private wastewater system onto site, along the western, 
Sugar Lane boundary.  United Utilities requests further information from the applicant 

about this and also requests evidence to demonstrate the flow does not pose an 
additional contamination risk to the development site and an assessment of the 
potential contamination risk to groundwater at depth.  It is considered that this 

information can be requested by way of a planning condition requiring the details to 
be submitted and approved and for any mitigation measures required to be 

implemented before the development is brought into use. 
 
7.21 UU also requires the run-off from the permeable surfaces to be treated and 

details of this method can also be requested and provided by way of a planning 
condition.  As with Environment Agency, UU has also requested more details 

regarding the proposed foul and surface water drainage methodology.  
 
7.22 The final comments from United Utilities in response to the amended plans and 

amended drainage scheme will be reported at the Committee meeting. 
 
Other Matters  

 
7.23 A number of letters of objection were received from local residents and also an 

objection from the Parish Council relating to flooding, highway safety, village facilities 
and impact on the amenities of the area.  It is considered these points have been 

addressed in this report. 
 
8. Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 

8.1 Due to the current five-year housing land supply situation, it is considered the 

proposal in providing four 3-bed houses in this edge of village location is acceptable 
as no adverse impacts have been identified which outweigh the benefits of the 
proposal in providing the housing.  The proposal in this respect complies with the 

overarching para 11 of the NPPF in providing a sustainable development.  The 
amended scheme is a significant improvement on the original scheme for a cul-de-

sac development in a more prominent part of the site with houses which turned their 

Page 61



back on Sugar Street and which did not contribute to village form and character.  The 
amended dwellings have an improved design and form addressing the lane and 

considered to be in keeping with the village.  The scheme would also not harm the 
residential amenities of the area or highway safety and with the safeguard of 

conditions would also not lead to any other environmental harms relating to flood 
risk, pollution or ecological value. 
 

8.2 In terms of the tilted balance, the proposal would deliver social benefits in 
providing housing in an area of undersupply and economic benefits due to the 

contribution to supporting local facilities and services as well as through the actual 
construction (i.e. the building trade) but without any significant environmental harms.  
Despite some minor conflict with Policy H1 in terms of the location and form of new 

housing for small villages, the proposal would by enlarge comply with the Local Plan 
and is in line with the NPPF. 

 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 

 
A. That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason:- 
To comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Town and Country 

Planning, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 

accordance with the submitted amended plans received on 26.4.22 and 
specifications as follows:- 

 
2127 01A 
2127 06A 

2127 07A 
2127 08A 

2127 08A 
2127 09A 
2127 10A 

2127 11A 
2127 12A 

2127 15 
2127 17 
 

Reason:-  
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 
 
3.  The building materials shall comprise stone walls, Staffs Blue clay tiles, 

timber windows and aluminium rainwater goods in accordance with exact 
details of type, colour and texture to be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority before any further development beyond damp 

Page 62



course level. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of the character and appearance of the area. 
 

4.  The hard surfacing of the site including access road shall be undertaken 
before the development is first brought into use in accordance with details of 
type, colour and texture to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of the character and appearance of the area. 
 
5. The stone materials for the new boundary walls shall match those of the 

dwellings hereby approved and shall be provided before the development is 
first brought into use. 

Reason:- 
In the interests of the character and appearance of the area. 
The soft landscaping and planting of the site shall be undertaken before the 

development hereby permitted is first brought into use in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  These details shall include: 
 -  Planting plans 
-  Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 

with plant and grass establishment) 
-  Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed 

numbers/densities where appropriate 
-  Implementation timetables 
- Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) metric information  

- Meadow enhancement 
- Details of species features and locations for bats, birds, hedgehogs, reptiles 

and invertebrates as laid out in the PEA report (Charnia Ecology, October 
2021) 
 

Reason:- 
To ensure the appropriate landscape design and in the interests of the visual 

amenities of the area and the ecological value of the area. 
 
6. The implemented planting scheme shall be subsequently properly 

maintained in accordance with good horticultural practice; any plants which 
are removed, die, become diseased or otherwise fail to establish within 5 years 

of planting shall be replaced during the next available planting season and the 
replacements themselves shall then be properly maintained.  
Reason:-  

To ensure the appropriate landscape design and in the interests of the visual 
amenities of the area. 

 
7. The green open areas of the site shall be managed in accordance with a 
long-term habitat management plan to secure net biodiversity gain to be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before the 
development is first brought into use. 

Reason:- 

Page 63



In the interests of the ecological value of the site. 
  

8. Before the development is first brought into use, the following ecology 
measures shall be undertaken in accordance with the PEA report by Charnia 

Ecology submitted with the application, as follows:  
a. Bird precautions to be followed as per sections 88 – 91, including timing of 
works.  

b. Amphibian and mammal precautions to be followed as detailed within 
sections 83, 84, and 86. 

Reason:- 
In the interests of the ecological value of the site.  
 

9. Measures to protect reptiles including retaining refuge areas and supervised 
clearance works shall be undertaken during the construction phase in 

accordance with a Reptile Method Statement to be submitted to and approved 
in writing before works commence. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of the ecological value of the site.  
 

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification) no additional windows or any other 

openings shall be installed in any part of the development, without prior 
written consent from the District Council as Local Planning Authority.  

Reason:-  
To protect the amenity and living conditions of adjacent residential property 
from overlooking or perceived overlooking and the visual amenities in the 

area. 
 

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that order with or without modification), no development as specified in Part 1 

Class(es) AA, A, B, C, D and E or Part 2 Classes A to C shall be undertaken 
without express planning permission first being obtained from the Local 

Planning Authority. 
Reason:-  
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development and so 

safeguard the character and visual amenities of the area and to protect the 
residential amenities of neighbouring residents.  

 
12. Before the commencement of development, tree protection fencing shall be 
installed around all existing trees on site in accordance with details to be 

submited to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of the character and appearance of the area. 
 
13. No phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place except for 

works of site clearance and demolition until a Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan for that phase of the site has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which 

Page 64



shall include the following details:- 
 

I. the hours of work, which shall not exceed the following: Construction 
and associated deliveries to the site shall not take place outside 08:00 

to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays or Bank Holiday; 
 

II. the method and duration of any pile driving operations (including 
expected starting date and completion date); 

 
III. pile driving shall not take place outside 09:00 to 16:00 hours Mondays 

to Fridays, nor at any time on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank Holidays;  

 
IV. the arrangements for prior notification to the occupiers of potentially 

affected properties; 
 

V. the responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be 

contacted in the event of complaint; 
 

VI. a scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction 
activities on the site.   
 

VII. a scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from the 
construction works; 

 
VIII. the loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 

IX. the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development; 

 
X. any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall 

not be burnt on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent 

escape into the environment, 
  

XI. details of any generator/s to be used on site. They should be 
sufficiently attenuated so that any noise generated  shall be inaudible 
inside any nearby noise sensitive premise, 

 
XII. during construction/demolition phases amplified music and/or radios 

shall not be audible beyond the site boundary. 
 
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Any 

alteration to this Plan shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of the alteration.  

Reason:- 
To protect the amenity of local residents and that of the surrounding area 
from noise disturbance.  

 
14. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 

Page 65



Planning Authority. Development should not commence further until an initial 
investigation and risk  assessment has been completed in accordance with 

a scheme to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority to assess the nature 
and extent of any contamination on the site.  If the initial site risk assessment 

indicates that potential risks exists to any identified receptors, development 
shall not commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to 

human health, buildings and other property, and the natural and historical 
environment has been prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 

local planning authority.    

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to bringing the development into first use, a verification 

report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must 
be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 

Authority. 

Reason: - 
To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of the 

National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 

necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks. 
 

15. No top soil is to be imported to the site until it has been tested for 

contamination and assessed for its suitability for the proposed development, a 
suitable methodology for testing this material should be submitted to and 

agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the soils being imported onto 
site. The methodology should include the sampling frequency, testing 
schedules, criteria against which the analytical results will be assessed (as 

determined by the risk assessment) and source material information. The 
analysis shall then be carried out and validatory evidence submitted to and 

approved in writing to by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:- 
To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of the 

National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 

necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks. 
 
16. The artificial lighting incorporated into this site in connection to this 

application shall not increase the pre-existing illuminance at the adjoining 
light sensitive locations when the light (s) is (are) in operation and shall be 

provided in accordance with sections 109 and 112 of the Charnia Ecology 
PEA and in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development being 

brought into use. 
Reason:- 

To protect the local amenities of the local residents by reason of excess of 
illuminance. 
 

17. Any Air Source Heat Pump installed under this permission should be 
compliant with Microgeneration Installation Standard: MCS 020 MCS; 

Page 66



Planning Standards for Permitted Development Installations of Wind Turbines 
and Air Source Heat Pumps on Domestic Premises. 

Reason:- 
To protect local amenities of the local residents by reason of excess noise. 

 
18. Development shall not commence until specific details of the foul water 
drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved and 
completed prior to the development being brought into use. 

Reason:- 
To ensure the protection of controlled waters in line with paragraph 174 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
19. Development shall not commence until specific details of the disposal of 

surface water has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
Reason:- 

To ensure the protection of controlled waters in line with paragraph 174 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. The water run-off from the proposed gravel surface of the shared car 
parking area and the permeable paving shall be treated before discharge in 

accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority before the development is first brought into use. 

Reason:- 
To prevent ground and water pollution. 
 

21. Before the commencement of works, details of the existing off-site private 
wastewater system discharging onto the site adjacent to Sugar Lane shall be 

submitted to the local planning authority and any measures or works in 
response to the details as agreed in writing by the local planning authority 
shall be undertaken before the development is brought into use.  The details 

shall include the following: 
-If the drainage is a wastewater overflow or treated effluent; 

-Whether or not the flow drains to ground on-site or enters surface water 
courses, via road drainage; 
-Evidence to demonstrate the flow does not pose an additional contamination 

risk to the development site;  
-An assessment of the potential contamination risk to groundwater at depth. 

Reason:- 
To prevent ground and water pollution as a result of development of the site. 
 

22. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
visibility splays shown on plan AL09A have been provided. The visibility 

splays shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height 
of 600 mm above the adjacent carriageway level.  
Reason:- 

In the interests of highway safety. 
 

23. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 

Page 67



access to the site within the limits of the public highway has been completed. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of highway safety. 
 

24. Before the development is first brought into use, a surface water drainage 
interceptor shall be provided across the access immediately to the rear of the 
highway boundary, connected to a surface water outfall or on SUDS principles 

in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:- 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 

25. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
access, parking, servicing and turning areas have been provided in 

accordance with the approved plans. The parking, turning and servicing areas 
shall thereafter be retained unobstructed as parking, turning and servicing 
areas for the life of the development.  

Reason:- 
In the interests of highway safety. 

 
26. Before the proposed development is brought into use, revised details shall 
be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

indicating: -  
-Parking bays of minimum length of 4.8m; 

-Pedestrian dropped crossings to facilitate pedestrian access onto Sugar 
Street. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. 
Reason:- 

In the interests of highway safety. 

 
27. No development shall be commenced until a scheme for the provision of 

electric vehicle charging points has been submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No property shall be occupied until any 

approved electric vehicle charging infrastructure associated with that dwelling 
has been installed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason:- 

To promote the use of low emission vehicles and help mitigate  the impact of 
any additional vehicles on  local air pollution 
 
 
Informatives 
 

1.The Council has sought (negotiated) a sustainable form of development which 
complies with the provisions of paragraphs 186-187 of the NPPF.  

 
2.Where infiltration SuDS are to be used for surface run-off from roads, car parking 

and public or amenity areas, they should be suitably designed to meet the non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems.  These standards 
should be used in conjunction with the National Planning Policy Framework and 

Page 68



Planning Practice Guidance and use a SuDS management treatment train. 
 

3.The site directly overlies the sandstone rock, mainly within a Groundwater Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ) 2, overlapping onto SPZ 3. This forms a recharge zone for 

the aquifer, abstracted at depth by United Utilities for local public drinking water 
supply at nearby Rushton Spencer boreholes. The applicant should follow best 
practise on their use and storage of fuels, oils and chemicals, to remove the risk of 

causing pollution during construction. 
 

4.The site maybe particularly vulnerable to the presence of contamination, due to the 
presence of an historic abstraction borehole (SJ96SW2 / SJ96/23). If present and 
not decommissioned, this could provide a direct connection to the groundwater table 

at depth. Other similar boreholes are located nearby, close to the site boundary.  The 
Environment Agency may be able to advise further on appropriate sealing and 

decommissioning of the borehole, to prevent this forming a pathway for 
contaminants to reach the groundwater. 
 

5.As the applicant intends to build a private Wastewater Treatment Works, the 
consent of the Environment Agency would be needed for the discharge of treated 

effluent. United Utilities would not wish to adopt the works on completion. The 
Applicant should follow EA guidance and apply for a permit for the new & changed 
discharges (https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks/apply-for-a-permit) 

 
6.Any private wastewater treatment plant must be designed to ensure that the 

discharges also do not pose an unacceptable risk of pollution to groundwater, in 
order to protect United Utilities drinking water abstraction sources in the vicinity of 
the site. 

 
7.If the applicant intends to receive water and/or wastewater services from United 

Utilities, they should visit our website or contact the Developer Services team for 
advice. This includes seeking confirmation of the required metering arrangements for 
the proposed development. If the proposed development site benefits from existing 

water and wastewater connections, the applicant should not assume that the 
arrangements will be suitable for the new proposal. In some circumstances we may 

require a compulsory meter is fitted. For detailed guidance on whether the 
development will require a compulsory meter please visit: 
https://www.unitedutilities.com/my-account/your-bill/our-household-charges-

20212022/ and go to section 7.7 for compulsory metering. 
 

8.The applicant or developer should contact United Utilities Developer Services team 
for advice if their proposal is in the vicinity of water or wastewater pipelines and 
apparatus. It is their responsibility to ensure that United Utilities’ required access is 

provided within their layout and that our infrastructure is appropriately protected. The 
developer would be liable for the cost of any damage to United Utilities’ assets 

resulting from their activity. 
 
9.Staffs Wildlife Trust advise that additional surface features such as a lined reedbed 

or swale could be considered at the lower end of the site as part of the detailed 
drainage plan requested in the planning conditions. 
 

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/permits-you-need-for-septic-tanks/apply-for-a-permit


10.SWT also advise the following: 
-In order for the permeable landscaped areas to absorb some run-off, they would 

need to be flush with the hard surfacing without a curb, or permeable curb materials 
used. 

-Underground geocellular storage could be considered to provide more storage and 
filtration. 
-Water butts should also be provided on each home. 
 
 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 

the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 

provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 
 

 
Location Plan  

 

Page 70



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 

16th June 2022 

 
Application 

No: 
SMD/2021/0337  

Location Tean Surgery, Old Road, Upper Tean, ST10 4EG 
Proposal Addition of first floor level to rear section of building to provide 

additional office and staff facility to new first floor area and minor 

internal alterations to existing ground floor at existing medical 
practice 

Applicant Dr V C Tiguti and Partners 
Agent Mr John Payne 
Parish/ward Checkley / Checkley   Date registered 1st July 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Arne Swithenbank  

tel: 01538 395578 or e-mail arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 
 

The application is a Full – Minor and is referred to Committee at the request of 
Cllr Wilkinson (Ward Member) to consider in particular the impact on the Upper 

Tean Conservation Area.   
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

 

 
 Approve 

 

 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

 

2.1  The existing building is single storey and takes the form of a c.1960’s or 
later 20th C former bungalow that has been adapted and extended.  It is 

built in red brick with concrete tile roof. The location on Old Road is gently 
rising to the north / north east.  The southerly elevations of the building 
therefore appear slightly elevated whereas the northerly side is about on a 

level with the road.  There is a car park with spaces for 11 vehicles on the 
northerly side accessed off Old Road. 

 
2.2      Adjacent to the south, set back and set down relative to the surgery, is a 

detached two storey brick and clay tile dwelling of likely c.1950 date (22 

Old Road).    
 

2.3  Opposite the surgery on the west side of Old Road are numbers 17 and 19 
known respectively as Brooklands and Schaanwald which together are 
Grade II Listed.  These are two storey brick and clay tile dwellings dated to 

mid 18thC  with extensive and similarly styled late 19thC additions. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9

mailto:arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


  

 
2.4  To the east side (rear) of the surgery is the garden of Rose Cottage which 

is built back-to-back with numbers 12 and 14 New Road. 

 
 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  

 
3.1  As first submitted the proposal involved a substantial and prominent first 

floor addition across much of the entire existing ground floor layout.  
Following advice from the LPA including the (then) Conservation Officer, 

the design has been modified and reduced so that it now involves a first 
floor addition along just the rear (easterly half) of the existing building.  In 
order to reduce the overall height the new eaves height, along the rear 

(east) elevation, would be set at c.5.2m and is therefore raised by c. 2.2m 
from the existing single storey c.3.0m eaves height. 

 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1  None on recent record. 

 
 
5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 
5.1 Local Plan (adopted 9th September 2020) 

SS1 Development Principles 

SS2 Settlement Hierarchy  
SS8 Larger Villages Area Strategy 

DC1 Design Considerations 
DC2 The Historic Environment  
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 

C1 Creating Sustainable Communities 
NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources 

NE2  Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 
T1 Development and Sustainable Transport 

 

National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 

Paragraph(s) 1 – 14;  

Section(s) 4 – Decision making; 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities; 
9 – promoting Sustainable Transport; 11 – Making effective use of land; 12 – 
Achieving well designed places; 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural 

environment; 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.  
 

Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance (SPD/G): 

• Space About Dwellings SPG 
• Design Principles SPG 

• Design Guide SPD adopted 21st February 2018 
 

Local Plan Supporting Evidence Documents: 

• Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2008) 

Page 72



  

 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 

 
Public 

6.1 The last consultation expiry date was 30th December 2021 (neighbour 
notifications).  Site notice expiry date was 5th August 2021. Press notice expiry 
date was 11th August 2021 

 
6.2 Representations have been received from 3 individuals / households all raising 

objections: 
    [commenting in response to the scheme as first submitted]  
  

From the occupier of Schaanwald: 
-  the single span roof [first scheme] over the existing twin roof would dominate 

neighbouring buildings particularly to the front and rear 
- unacceptable in a Conservation Area 
- owing to the difference in levels the raised roof line [first scheme] when 

viewed from the buildings opposite is much higher than the 8 metres 
indicated on the plans   

- the listed buildings opposite would be dominated by this development 
- reduction in natural daylight, particularly in the ground floor areas, of 
- Schaanwald opposite and probably the terraced houses to the rear 

- Application submissions fail to show the close proximity of the buildings 
opposite  

- new roof windows facing Old Road would allow anyone to look directly into 

the bedrooms of Schaanwald opposite which is unacceptable 
- the submitted planning statement says there are 4 patient parking spaces: 2 

for disabled only and a further 2. This is incorrect as there is only 1 for 
disabled use (three in total) 

- many patients park in Old Road which is very narrow and “usually on the 

pavement” 
- the proposed increase in working space within the building would cause an 

even greater parking problem and the existing staff car park is full to 
capacity even without the extension  

- the public car park referred to in the submitted planning statement is approx.  

400metres further down Old Road not the 100metres stated  [in fact the 
entrances are within 100m (LPA)]  

- most patients choose to park in the road and on the pavement causing 
congestion and much inconvenience to residents – this can only get worse 

- the surgery at Old Road has another surgery at Blythe Bridge under the same 

management which is said to be under-utilised and where there is a large 
car park not close to any other domestic properties – a viable alternative 

therefore to “gross over development at the Old Road surgery 
 

From the occupier of 14 New Road 

- there is ample parking for patients on Old Road car park, and the surgery has 
an ample largely unused carpark within its own grounds. The ground floor 

could be easily expanded without affecting nearby homeowners 
 

Page 73



  

- Extending the height of a building so close to houses would destroy privacy in 
everyone’s gardens as the surgery is extremely close to nearby houses, and 
further darken our personal space and negatively affect privacy 

 
- Would also reduce house price values  

 
- “huge conifers” between the surgery car par and the garden of 14 New Road 

already overshadow and are too high though at the same time would serve 

to shield from the proposed extension 
 

From the owner and resident of Rose Cottage:  
- Concerned not on the consultation list for the application and no letter 

received 

- probably the household most affected by this proposal 
- design not suited to the Conservation Area 

- traffic and parking impacts for Old Road 
- as the garden to Rose Cottage is only 1 metre away from the rear elevation of 

the surgery it would be placed in shadow as a result of the extension and 

the house itself would also be deprived of light and would have no privacy in 
the upstairs rooms through the addition of the proposed windows/roof lights. 

- the development would seriously impact on the historic value and price of the 
listed building opposite, not to mention the house prices of homeowners in 
the vicinity. 

- If the extension really is necessary, which is doubted as the Surgery is empty 
Thursday afternoon and Saturday morning, why not better timetable the use 
of the existing building and re‐allocate the newly acquired funds? Is it not 

possible to use the free village car park for staff and patients and extend 
onto the existing land in a low‐level aesthetic way or even start again on a 

more suitable site? 

- Questions whether there are not in fact more than just 3 objectors. 
 

[commenting in response to the 9th December consultation re current plans]  
 

 From the occupier of Schaanwald: 

- Although the raised roof is moved to the rear of the existing twin roof it is still 
far too high. If the elevation drawing is to scale it would be about 4 metres 

higher than the existing roof line which would still totally dominate 
neighbouring buildings. 

- Rose cottage is shown on the interactive planning map in completely the 

wrong position as it is shown on the same site as the surgery, obviously 
incorrectly. 

- Clearly the planning department have no idea where Rose cottage is. In fact 
Rose Cottage sits immediately behind the surgery and only 1metre from the 
boundary line. 

- Rose Cottage would be totally dominated by the new roof in a totally 
unacceptable manner. 

- In Conservation Areas the Council says it “will only grant planning permission 
for a development which preserves or enhances the character and 
appearance of the conservation area”.  This development proposal clearly 

fails this requirement. 

Page 74



  

- The building would have no affinity with any other building in Old Road or the 
wider Conservation Area and would be “an architectural carbuncle”.  

- Parking problems have been ignored. 

 
 

 Checkley Parish Council  

6.3 We accept that our Doctors’ surgery requires additional space for the reasons 
detailed in the last page of The Design, Access and Heritage Statement and 

would fully support the enhanced provision for our community. With regard to 
an approved scheme design to achieve the additional space, the proposal is in 

the Upper Tean Conservation Area, the Parish Council would defer to the 
expertise of SMDC’s Conservation Officer expecting that an approved scheme 
would fully reflect the opinions of said officer and be congruent with the 

conservation area. 
 

SCC Highways 

6.4 No objection. Old Road is an unclassified D road with a 30mph speed limit and 
benefits from streetlights. It runs between the A522 Cheadle Road and High 

Street with a one-way system in place from the north terminating at a point just 
above and north of the public car park at which point it becomes two-way to its 

junction with High Street.  The proposal would result in 2 additional consulting 
rooms to the ground floor and new staff facilities to include Practice Manager’s 
office, kitchen, meeting room, records room and shower room to the newly 

constructed first floor. The proposal will not cause an impact on parking spaces 
and the car park will continue to accommodate 11 vehicles including 2 disabled 
bays. The property is sited in the village of Upper Tean within walking distance 

of a public car park and public transport links. It is considered that staff and 
patients may use these means of accessing the surgery. The proposal is 

considered not to have a detrimental impact on the adopted highway.  
 
SMDC Conservation Officer   

6.5 Commenting on the scheme as first submitted: Old Road is a characterful lane 
within the Conservation Area flanked by red brick vernacular buildings, with a 

gently sloping gradient southwards along its winding route, revealing attractive 
townscape views and views out to the hillsides beyond. There are several 
terraces of workers’ cottages linked to the Grade II* Listed Tape Mill and a 

further listed building stands opposite the application site. The doctors surgery 
is a modern single storey structure which would be regarded as a neutral 

building within the Conservation Area. 
 
6.6 The proposal to alter the building and raise its height would create a building 

form and appearance that has no regard to the local building vernacular, and 
would look wholly out of place. It would be dominant and obtrusive with its wide 

gables and dominant hipped roof. Whilst there is no objection in principle to 
increasing the height of the building, the form should respect the local context. 

 

6.7 Conservation Officer  comments not available following the 3rd December 2021 
amended plans. 

 
 

Page 75



  

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS / PLANNING BALANCE  
 
Principle of Development and Main Issues 

 

7.1 The primary relevant Local Plan policy is SS8 for the Larger Villages. From the 

SS8 supporting text: “The larger villages have an important role in terms of 
serving and supporting their immediate surrounding rural areas and smaller 
villages. It is important therefore that they are sustained and promoted as 

service centres. A major issue in such settlements is balancing the need to 
retain local facilities and accommodate housing and other needs with 

maintaining their character and avoiding over-development.”  This site is within 
the Upper Tean Larger Village Development boundary where therefore 
“development of an appropriate scale and nature will be allowed”. In other 

words the proposed development would be supported in principle by the 
Council’s adopted Local Plan policies.  

   
7.2 The main issues to consider with this application are: the likely public benefits 

to the community of a development to augment a local medical practice; 

design; impact in terms of character and appearance on the street scene; 
impact on the setting of Brooklands (including Schaanwald) as a Grade II Listed 

Building; impact on the character and appearance of the Upper Tean 
Conservation Area; impact on the living conditions of the neighbours; highway 
safety. 

 
7.3 Local Plan policy SS8(1) [first point] refers to “Enabling appropriate 

development which supports and increases the range and quality of community 

facilities available to the rural areas; SS8(1) [second point] refers to “Protecting 
community facilities where loss would be deemed to reduce the community's 

ability to meet its day to day needs”. 
 
7.4 Local Plan policy SS8(4) is to “Ensure that new development reflects and 

enhances each village’s special character and heritage” referring to various 
considerations including to ensure that development is “of a suitable scale in 

relation to the role and function of the villages as set out in the Spatial Strategy” 
and to protect and enhance the setting of settlements and to protect and 
enhance “the setting and historic character of the village, including heritage 

assets”. 
 

 
Design 

  

7.5 The design as submitted in the amended scheme can reasonably be judged to 
successfully achieve the additional first floor accommodation over part of the 

building in a form that is consistent in appearance with the existing building 
including in choice of materials.     

 

7.6 It would be appropriate to stipulate by condition the use of brick and roof tiles to 
match those of the existing building.  In the northerly side elevation over the car 

park, alternative materials including render and upright boarding are indicated.  
There is an important design case to simplify this by allowing the render as 

Page 76



  

shown but to omit any boarding and instead revert to brick.  Alternatively it may 
be considered that the whole gable elevation should be in brick.  On balance 
the part use of render with the remainder in brick may be judged the most 

suitable option.  Again, this could be stipulated by condition.  In support of 
partial use of render this material is used to varying degrees on some nearby 

dwellings and therefore not wholly out of place.  There is no comparable use of 
boarding and its introduction would therefore be inconsistent.  

 

7.7 In terms of impact on the public street scene the extension would not over 
dominate as it is to the rear relative to the street front.  The raised gables both 

to the south and north would be visible but would not detract or seem out of 
place as the majority if not all the surrounding adjacent dwellings are of two 
storeys.  The width of the gable as amended at c.7.4m is commensurate with 

typical gable dimensions nearby.     
  

 
 Heritage impact on the setting of the Grade II Listed Brooklands 

(including Schaanwald) and on the Upper Tean Conservation Area 

 
7.8 As regards the Listed Building (Brooklands) there is a statutory duty placed on 

the LPA, under section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, to consider the impact of the proposal on the 
special architectural and historic interest of the Listed Building affected, and its 

setting and “have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses”. 

 
7.9 As regards the Upper Tean Conservation Area, Section 72 of the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 places a statutory duty on 
the LPA in assessing planning applications in respect to any land or buildings in 
a Conservation Area to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 

enhancing the character or appearance of that area. In reaching its decision the 
LPA has to demonstrate that the Section 72 Duty has been applied and 

discharged. Section 72 (and Footnote 6 of para.11 of the NPPF) creates a 
strong presumption in favour of the preservation of Conservation Areas and 
their setting. 

 
7.10 An LPA can only discharge its duty if it has carried out a proper assessment of 

the impact on a Conservation Area and/or a Listed Building, is conscious of the 
duty and has demonstrably applied it in assessing the proposal. This 
assessment extends to setting, the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 

experienced. 
 

7.11 Historic Environment Policy DC2 of the Local Plan is to give protection to 
designated heritage assets and their settings and non-designated heritage 
assets as set out in the NPPF. 

 
7.12 NPPF paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, “great  weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation”. Paragraph 200 goes on to say 

Page 77



  

that: “any harm or loss [to a heritage asset] should require clear and convincing 
justification.”  NPPF paragraph 202 states that: “Where a development proposal 
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 

heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.” 

 

7.13 In the revised plans, the scale of the development proposed and its form means 
that it would not intrude unduly on views of the Listed dwellings of Brooklands 

and Schaanwald. As an existing building already established within the setting 
of the Listed buildings and already present as part of the Conservation Area 

when it was designated in 1998 the Conservation Officer has advised that the 
existing surgery building can be regarded as ‘neutral’ in its impacts.    

 

7.14 If it is accepted that the proposed extension is consistent with the design 
character of the current building, and proportionate in scale and form, it would 

be logical to conclude that the impacts of the proposed extension may also be 
considered neutral.  As such there would be no need to weigh in balance any 
public benefits from the development and the proposal can be accepted in 

terms of policy DC2 and the NPPF.   
 

7.15 If alternatively there were considered to be some degree of harm, and 
assuming this to be ‘less than substantial’ (within the meaning of the NPPF), it 
would be necessary to weigh the extent of any public benefits of the 

development.  In relation to the development of a Doctors’ surgery,  enabling its 
expansion including to the range of services offered to the local patient 
population, it may reasonably be considered that the public benefit would be 

significant and would weigh as a counter balance to any ‘less than substantial 
harm.  As noted here however, the officer assessment is that the changes 

resulting from the extension proposed would be ‘neutral’ in terms of their impact 
both on the setting of the Listed Building (Brooklands) and on the character and 
appearance of the Upper Tean Conservation Area. Where a development is 

neutral in impact it becomes correct to conclude that the heritage is ‘preserved’ 
in its current state, notwithstanding that there are visual changes.  

 
 
 Amenity / Living Conditions 

 

7.16 In relation to the first submitted plans, the occupier of Schaanwald raised 

concerns about overlooking and intrusion on privacy.  With the revised scheme 
the extension would be at a distance of c.20 to 25m from the front elevation of 
Schaanwald.    The eaves height would be about level with the current 

maximum ridge height of the surgery building.  Whilst there are windows 
proposed in the elevation facing Schaanwald these would be behind the roof of 

the existing nearer part of the surgery building.  Whilst there could be some 
intervisibility between the proposed windows and existing first floor windows in 
Schaanwald or its neighbours this would be likely only in relation to upper 

window sections at most and highly constrained by distance and intervening 
roof slope and therefore not problematic.  Furthermore the distance of 

separation is about equal to the 22m which is found acceptable in the adopted 
Space About Dwellings Guidance for fully facing principal windows.  

Page 78



  

 
7.17 For Rose Cottage to the rear (east) of the proposed extension the separation 

distance is between 12.5m and 15.5m – the range is due to an oblique angle  

of orientation as opposed to being directly facing.  The position of Rose Cottage 
has been indicated on the location plan at the end of this report.  There would 

be windows in the new first floor which would face Rose Cottage but these 
serve a corridor rather than habited (or operationally active) rooms.  
Nevertheless it would be appropriate to impose by condition a requirement for 

these corridor windows to be obscure glazed (to at least level 5 on the 
Pilkington scale) so as to minimise any sense of being overlooked at Rose 

Cottage. 
 
7.18 A further important consideration in relation to Rose Cottage is to assess 

whether the proximity of the added height extension may be regarded as 
overbearing on the living conditions for occupiers of the dwelling at Rose 

Cottage, including the ability to enjoy its garden.  The Council’s adopted Space 
About Dwellings Guidance states at paragraph 12 that for facing extensions / 
buildings there should be no obstruction to daylight above a line drawn at 25 

degrees measured from the mid-point of the nearest windows of the potentially 
affected property.   

 
7.19 The situation at Rose Cottage is complicated by the addition of a substantial 

conservatory extension in place of the ground floor principal window; and the 

original ground floor wall has been opened up to create an open plan living 
space.  Save for a brick base wall to c.750mm height, the conservatory is fully  
glazed to all sides.  It also has transparent roof glazing.  Assessing the 25 

degree angle in relation to the original wall elevation of the dwelling the surgery 
extension would be some 2.5m below the 25 degree line at the eaves and c.1m 

below at the roof ridge.  On this basis the extension would be found acceptable. 
 
7.20 Carrying out a similar assessment in relation to the conservatory, the extended 

surgery eaves height would still come under the 25 degree line whereas the 
roof ridge would breach the 25 degree line by c.0.5m.   

 
7.21 Notwithstanding the above assessments there may still be considered some 

‘imposition’ on the sense of space and light for occupiers of Rose Cottage and 

ultimately it becomes a matter of judgement as to whether the impacts are 
acceptable in terms of the living conditions for the occupiers.   The situation is 

helped in that the surgery building is not squarely aligned with Rose Cottage 
but lies somewhat to the north west.  Prevailing light from the sun’s arc through 
south to west would largely not be affected by the development.  There would 

however be likely to be some noticeable additional shading to evening light.  
 

7.22 On balance it may reasonably be judged that the impacts on Rose Cottage are 
acceptable, particularly considering that the Space About Dwellings Guidance 
would appear to be met.   

 
 

 
 

Page 79



  

 Highway Safety 
 

7.23 Given the SCC Highway Officer advice, the implications for Highway safety are 

acceptable.  A large public car park is available within 100m of the surgery 
entrance in addition to the 11 parking spaces at the surgery car park.  

Pavement parking will bring understandable annoyance and no residents 
should be finding their drive entrances blocked.    Ultimately however these are 
highway breaches which should be addressed through appropriate highway 

safety enforcement.   
 

 
Response to Public comments 

  

7.24 The majority of the points raised have been covered in the above report text.  
Many of the points raised by the three respondents were in response to the 

larger initial proposal and the modified scheme can be considered to have 
sufficiently addressed these criticisms.  There was preference by one of the 
respondents for the development to be kept single storey and take up some of 

the car park.  Whilst this could be an option it is not the proposal currently  
under consideration.  It is also suggested that the surgery could focus its 

expansion to its Blythe Bridge site but this would be disadvantageous to the  
immediate community in Upper Tean and again is not the proposal submitted. 

 

7.25 Although Rose Cottage was omitted from the initial consultation it was included 
in the re-consultation of 9th December 2021.  The posting of a site notice means 
that the minimum statutory requirement for publicity was met at the outset in the 

first round consultation and the occupier at Rose Cottage did submit comments 
at that stage. It is the Ordnance Survey map base which places the name Rose 

Cottage over the site of the surgery building and not the Council’s mapping as 
alleged in the criticisms of one of the objectors. 

 

 
8. Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 
8.1 For the reasons discussed in the report the revised and reduced scheme is 

found acceptable in design; is found ‘neutral’ and therefore acceptable in terms 

of Listed Building setting and character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  There is found to be some partial impact on amenity for occupiers of 

Rose Cottage but at a scale that is judged acceptable and not amounting to 
any defined or specific breach of the Space About Dwellings Guidance.  No 
adverse impacts are found in relation to any other neighbouring dwellings and 

the scheme is acceptable in terms of Highways.   
 

8.2 The proposal has an important positive benefit for the community in that it 
enables an expansion and consolidation to the General Practitioner medical 
services available to residents.  This is a valuable contribution to creating 

sustainable communities which is supported by Local Plan policy C1.  The 
scheme is found n accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies identified, 

as well as local and national planning guidance. Therefore, in the absence of 
any other material considerations and having due regard to all other matters 

Page 80



  

raised, including neighbour objections, the application is recommended for 
approval.   

 

 
9. RECOMMENDATION  

 
A. Approve subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Town and 
Country Planning, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details as submitted in the application form and submitted 

specifications and as shown in drawings: 
Drawing 3 sheet 1 
Site and location plan sheet 4 

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance 
with the submitted details and approved plans, in the interests of good 

planning, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 
 

3. The external facing and roofing materials shall match respectively in 

colour, form and texture those of the existing buildings using brick for 
the walls and tiles for the roofing and there shall be no variation without 
the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that the works harmonise with the existing 
development. 

 
4. The windows in the rear elevation facing south east towards Rose  

Cottage shall be fitted with obscure glazing to level 5 (minimum) from 

the Pilkington range or equivalent and then shall be maintained and 
retained for the life of the development.  

Reason: To protect the amenity and living conditions of the adjoining 
residential property from overlooking or perceived overlooking.  

 

Informative    
 

1. This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion 
with the applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the 

Case Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental 

conditions of the area. 
 

B In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 

decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 

the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 

Page 81



  

provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision 

 

 
10. APPENDICES TO THE REPORT 

 
10.1 The link below to the Council’s website is where the detail of this 
application can be viewed. 

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchS
ervlet?PKID=148965 

Page 82

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=148965
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=148965


  

10.2 – location plan 

  

 

NB  

– blue solid arrow points to the application site  
– black pecked arrow points to Rose Cottage (back-to-back with 12/14 New Road)  

Upper Tean 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 AGENDA ITEM  

 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 
Report to Planning Applications Committee 

 
16th June 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Appendices Attached – 

Appendix A: Location Plan for 9 Basford Bridge Lane, Cheddleton, ST13 7EQ 

 
1. Recommendation 

1.1 That consent to fell the mature Beech tree at 9 Basford Bridge Lane, protected as 
T1 under TPO No174 is REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 
1. The Beech Tree T1 is readily and prominently visible from the adjacent public 

highway, from where it is seen as a notable feature positively contributing to the 

character and setting of the site and immediate surroundings, and it is 
considered to have significant public amenity value which would be lost if the 

tree were removed. 
 

2. The application and submitted Arboricultural Survey and Safety Report do not 

demonstrate that the defects noted in the tree mean the tree poses an 
unacceptable risk.  The bark damage and decay in the stem appear superficial 

and currently do not appear to have a significant detrimental effect on the safety 
of the tree.  The condition of the tree recorded in the Arboricultural report is ‘Fair’ 
and this assessment was confirmed by the site visit.  

 
3. The Arboricultural report submitted with the application refers to major deadwood 

in the crown of the tree, the removal of this is exempt from the requirement to 
gain the Local Authorities permission. As such dead wood/ branches can be 
removed from this tree with no application/ permission necessary. 

TITLE: TPO/2022/0004- Application to fell a 
protected tree – 9 Basford Bridge Lane, 
Cheddleton, ST13 7EQ 

 
PORTFOLIO: Planning, Development and Property 
 

OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development 
Services 

 

WARD: Cheddleton 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



 2 

 
 

 
4. The local planning authority has an adopted Strategy which contains policies and 

guidance which normally resist the loss of protected trees without sufficient 

justification. The reasons put forward in your application are not considered to 
amount to sufficient justification to outweigh the loss of amenity which would 

result from the removal of T1. The application is therefore considered to be in 
conflict with the Council’s Tree Strategy.  
 

5. The submitted Arboricultural report and our site visit both recorded fire damage 
to this protected tree.  The damage to the tree trunk and dead lower branches 

both appear to be caused by bonfires being lit in close proximity of this tree.  
Causing damage to a protected tree is an offense and may lead to prosecution 
and a fine. 

 
2. Assessment of application 

 

Assessment  Comment 

Has sufficient information been 
provided to assess the 
application?  

 

Yes   

Are the works required due to 
the trees condition? 

 

Yes  

If so what supporting 
information has been provided? 

Yes  Tree Heritage Arboricultural Report 
and Safety Survey. 

Are the works required due to 

alleged damage to property ? 
 

No  

If so is a supporting report 
provided ? 

  

Are any of the proposed works 
‘exempt’? 

No  

Assessment of amenity value:   High  

Impact of works on the amenity 
of the area  : 

 

Major Adverse  

Physiological heath and 
condition of tree(s).  

  

Fair  

Structural integrity of the trees.  
 

Fair  

 

Do the proposed works accord with good Arboricultural management?   

Page 86



 3 

No. The submitted report does not adequately demonstrate that the tree is in such poor 

condition that the only option is to remove it. 
 

Taken from Arboricultural report and Safety Survey- 20/12/2021- Tree Heritage 
T11 is protected by the TPO and is listed as T1 within the TPO. This tree has die back 
within the crown, particularly on one side. There are also large amounts of dead wood 

within the crown. There is decay present at the base and within the stem, with evidence 
of fire damage. The tree also has included bark present in the main fork. Given the 

decay at the base and within the stem, as well as the die back within the crown, I would 
recommend the removal of this tree due to its proximity to the property and driveway. 
.   

 
A site visit on 05/05/2022 by Mike Ellison and Andrew Wyllie of Cheshire Woodlands on 

behalf of the council noted. ‘The tree has been extensively fire damaged on the south 
side of the stem and from the evidence of a mounded pile of garden waste, it appears 
that burning of garden refuge is ongoing.  At this point there is decay of sapwood from 

what appears to be old historical fire damage and more recent bark dieback.  Again, it 
appears to be the result of ongoing fire damage.  The crown of the tree exhibits 

generally good health, which some dieback of peripheral shoots in the upper extremities 
of the crown.’ 
 

Some deadwood was noted in the crown of the tree, much of this minor and of no health 
and safety significance, a larger diameter dead  branch was noted over the fire site, 

again this branch although more visually significant does not appear to pose a significant 
health and safety risk.  The decay to the main stem looked superficial restricted to one 
side of the trunk.  The stem did not sound hollow when tapped with a nylon mallet.  The 

included bark in the main union did not appear to place the tree at a significantly higher 
risk of failure.  The tree is a very large mature beech tree and has a high amenity value. 

 
The submitted Arboricultural report and Cheshire woodlands site visit both noted that the 
tree, with the noted defects, was still in a ‘fair’ condition.  And as such its condition was 

suitable for retention. 
 

 
 

 
3 Consideration of application in relation to SMDC tree policies 

 
Policy 
No 

Assessment  Comment 

2.2.2 Is tree work proposed 

adequately justified?  

No, the submitted Arboricultural Survey does 

not adequately prove that the tree poses a 
significant risk of failure and as such would 

require removal.  
The submitted Arboricultural Survey does not 
justify why any concerns regarding this tree 

could not be adequately controlled through 
sensitive pruning if required. 

The submitted Arboricultural Survey does not 
demonstrate that the stem decay and included 
union has significantly impacted on the 

physiological condition or the structural stability 
of the tree.  The Arboricultural survey records 

Page 87



 4 

this tree as being in a fair condition. 
2.2.4 Is this an ancient or veteran 

tree? 

 

No 

2.2.6
 

.   

Is this application trying to pre-
empt a planning application?  

 

No 

2.3.5 Is this tree a risk to 
neighbouring properties or 

public land or the highway?  
 

No 
 

 
4. Summary and Conclusion 

 
The application has been assessed and should be refused for the following reasons. 

 
Further investigation could be carried out by the applicant to determine the full extent of 
the stem decay and if more significant than currently appears, a further application 

could be made to fell/ prune the tree.  This application would need to evidence the 
extent of the decay and its significance for the trees safety and justify the 

recommended remedial work. 
 
It would be appropriate to inform the applicant that the damage to the subject beech 

tree (dead bark and dead branch) appear to be related to the siting of the bonfire in 
close proximity.  As this is a protected tree causing damage to it could be an offence 

(See section 210(4) of the Act). 
 
The applicant should be informed that removal of deadwood/ dead branches are 

exempt and as such any deadwood in the crown of the tree causing concern could be 
removed with no application for TPO consent required. 
 
5. Recommendations 

 
Tree 

No 

Species Works applied for Recommendation 

T1 Beech Fell Refuse 

 
 

3. Implications 

 

3.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

Nil. 

3.2 Employees 
 

Nil. 

3.3 Equalities 
 

This report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Council's Equal 
Opportunities policy. 

 
3.4 Financial 

 

Anyone suffering loss or damage arising 

as a consequence of the Council’s 
decision to refuse consent, or to impose 
conditions when granting consent, may 

seek compensation from the Council; any 

Page 88



 5 

claim must be submitted within 12 months 
of the application or any subsequent 

appeal being determined.  
 

3.5 Legal 

 

Nil. 

 
3.6 Sustainability 

 

Refusal of consent to fell the Pine T5 

would ensure the retention of a tree 
having significant public amenity value, 
and contributing to the landscape 

character of the area, in accordance with 
the Council’s environmental protection 

objectives. 
 
 

 
Ben Haywood 

Head of Development Services 

 
 

 
Background Papers Location  Contact Details 

TPO No. SM174  
 
Application 
TPO/2022/0004 

 
 

Moorlands House 
Stockwell Street 
Leek 

 Ben Haywood 
ben.haywood@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk  
Tel: (01538) 395400 

 
 

 

Decision: 
 
 

Reason: 
 

 

Interests Declared: 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



��������	
�����������	�������������������������
�������	�������	��������� �!��"	�����#$��$�%����	���
�&���'#��	�������!#���	�������!#���	�������!#���	�������!#���	�������!#�(	)��	�	�*�%���+����� %%%%% �%�,�%�,�%�,�%�,�%�, �%�,�%�,�%�,�%�,�%�,

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 SMD/2022/0047 - Land adjacent to Cellarhead Substation, Rownall Road, Wetley Rocks
	7 SMD/2021/0695 - Land adjacent to Cellarhead Substation, Rownall Road, Wetley Rocks
	8 SMD/2021/0784 - Land east of Sugar Street, Rushton Spencer
	9 SMD/2021/0337 - Tean Surgery, Old Road, Upper Tean
	10 Application to fell a protected Tree - 9 Basford Bridge Lane, Cheddleton
	ITEM 5b APPENDIX 1 Plan 9 Basford Bridge Lane Cheddleton


